
2003 FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
(Dollars in thousands, except per share data) Year ended November 30,

2003 2002 2001

Consolidated Sales $ 600,495 $ 539,473 $ 551,396

Sales of Unconsolidated Joint-Venture Companies* 228,803 208,361 218,864

Net Income 29,900 28,059 27,741

Net Income Per Share 3.67 3.49 3.45

*Not Included in Consolidated Sales
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Ameron International Corporation is a

multinational manufacturer of highly-

engineered products and materials for the

chemical, industrial, energy, transportation and

infrastructure markets. Traded on the New York

Stock Exchange (AMN), Ameron is a leading

producer of water transmission lines; high-

performance coatings and finishes for the

protection of metals and structures; fiberglass-

composite pipe systems for transporting oil,

chemicals and corrosive fluids and specialized

materials and products used in infrastructure

projects. The company operates businesses in

North America, South America, Europe,

Australasia and Asia. It also participates in

several joint-venture companies in the U.S.,

Saudi Arabia, Kuwait, and Egypt.



JAMES S. MARLEN

Chairman of the Board,
President and Chief 

Executive Officer

“We are very pleased 

with the Company’s 

eighth consecutive year 

of record earnings. 

Our mission is to 

continue to enhance 

value by growing and

consistently delivering

superior results.”

CHAIRMAN’S
LETTER
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Ameron earned $3.67 per share in 2003 on sales of $600.5 million, compared to

$3.49 per share in 2002 on sales of $539.5 million. This represents the eighth

consecutive year of record earnings. Over the past 10 years, earnings have increased

at a compounded annual growth rate of 15%. Sales in 2003 were also at a record

level, exceeding $600 million for the first time. Additionally, Ameron’s primary

joint-venture companies achieved sales of over $228 million. Ameron’s financial

results in 2003 were achieved despite the significant increase in insurance and

pension costs of over $11 million that we discussed at the start of the year. We are

pleased with the Company’s performance as our mission is to continue to enhance

value for shareholders.

Importantly, all business segments contributed to the record performance,

highlighting the strength of our diversified portfolio of businesses. Each business

segment had higher year-over-year sales, while the income performance was balanced

as the Fiberglass-Composite Pipe Group had an outstanding year, and the Water

Transmission Group, although down slightly from 2002, continued at the high level

of recent years. The Performance Coatings & Finishes Group had slightly higher
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results, and the Infrastructure Products Group had solid but lower earnings. Income from joint-venture companies

was down as TAMCO was confronted by rapidly rising steel scrap prices and by continued high energy costs.  TAMCO

is the largest steel mini-mill in California, of which Ameron owns 50% in partnership with Tokyo Steel and Mitsui &

Co., each with 25%. 

Market conditions in our business sectors were mixed. In Coatings, the industrial sector was generally soft worldwide,

while the marine and offshore markets were steady to improving. The Fiberglass-Composite Pipe Group benefited

from the improving conditions in the marine and offshore market, especially in Asia. Although oil prices remain high,

oil companies have continued to limit spending for onshore oilfield products, and, as a result, there was only modest

improvement in this market segment. In addition, the commercial and industrial markets for fiberglass pipe in the

U.S. and Europe were generally soft.  The Water Transmission Group has experienced a lull recently in the scheduling

of major water projects in the western U.S. after a very robust market for the past few years. Given the pent-up

demand for municipal water projects in the western U.S., this lull should be temporary. The Infrastructure Products

Group is driven by construction spending, and during 2003, the sector was strong, primarily due to the low-interest

rate environment. Housing and infrastructure spending was robust, especially in the western and southeastern regions

and Hawaii. Looking ahead, it appears as though the industrial sector worldwide will continue to gradually improve,

the marine and offshore markets will strengthen, and the construction and housing markets should be solid,

especially in Ameron’s key geographic markets.

Ameron has consistently achieved quality earnings by developing and executing specific strategies that are unique for

each business and by relying on a common set of strategic fundamentals. These can be summarized as: 

SELECTIVE INVESTMENTS, VALUE-ADDED GROWTH and OPERATIONAL EFFICIENCY.

By SELECTIVE INVESTMENTS, we mean making capital investment decisions after rigorous risk examination to

ensure that the investment returns are commensurate with the risk. In the past five years, Ameron has committed over

$90 million in capital investments to enhance and grow existing businesses. Investments are targeted with the

majority earmarked to introduce new products, upgrade manufacturing processes to improve productivity and

product quality. Capital is also committed to increase capacity or to construct new plants, such as the recent

decorative concrete pole plant constructed in Alabama to penetrate the southeastern market or the plans being

evaluated for a new fiberglass-composite pipe plant to be built in Malaysia. Investments also include acquisitions—

but our criteria is highly selective since there is no value created when investments are made only for the sake of

growth or the premiums are excessive. While receptive to acquisitions, we evaluate opportunities principally in our

core businesses or closely-related businesses that offer superior return potential.

By VALUE-ADDED GROWTH, we mean focusing on sales opportunities that provide value-enhancing, profitable

growth where Ameron can use its advantages in technology, marketing and manufacturing to achieve superior profits.

Ameron’s businesses are pursuing numerous programs aimed at achieving organic growth. 

Fiberglass-Composite Pipe Group’s revolutionary new product—steel-strip laminate pipe (SSL)—is in the final

 



specification and product qualification phase in conjunction with a joint program with major oil companies. Long-

term testing and test lines are proceeding, along with manufacturing refinements and formulation improvements, in

anticipation of full commercialization. SSL represents a significant long-term growth opportunity.

The Water Transmission and Fiberglass-Composite Pipe Groups have teamed to develop a new composite-pipe

product to serve the growing national sewer rehabilitation market. There is a significant need to repair, replace or

upgrade the national wastewater infrastructure. Ameron has targeted the larger-diameter requirements for new

wastewater lines and sewer rehabilitation. Product development is proceeding, manufacturing process upgrades are

in progress, and it is expected that long-term testing will be successfully completed by the end of 2004. 

The Performance Coatings & Finishes Group will introduce various new product lines in 2004 to serve new market

segments. We will introduce an epoxy-based coatings line for the industrial flooring market, which includes concrete

flooring for areas such as manufacturing and warehouse facilities. The market is sizable and is a natural extension for

Ameron. A thin-film intumescent coating for fire protection of steel in high-rise buildings, currently marketed by the

Company’s subsidiary in Europe, will soon complete the Underwriters Laboratories’ certification testing and will be

introduced in the U.S. early in 2004. Another exciting development is an environmentally-friendly tin-free,

antifouling coating with a low copper release rate for the marine industry. Technology is the key to growing the

Performance Coatings & Finishes business, and in 2004 emphasis will continue on new product developments. 

For the Infrastructure Products Group, value-added growth initiatives focus on geographic expansion of pole

products operations and strengthening our market leadership position in both pole product operations and in our

Hawaiian operations. In Hawaii, the introduction of Isle Cell Crete, a unique lightweight concrete, provides a product

differentiation opportunity and further strengthens our market leadership position. Value-added growth is also

targeted in concrete sports-lighting poles and hybrid fiberglass distribution poles to serve a growing national electrical

distribution need.

By OPERATIONAL EFFICIENCY, we mean requiring a high standard of discipline and performance. We have

assembled a quality management group which has the autonomy to execute operating plans with an entrepreneurial

mindset. Strategic and operating plans are formally and informally reviewed frequently and a strong system of

financial controls is in place. Essentially, our philosophy is that while management processes are important in

managing the Company, our principal focus is on results.

We also have made good progress in strengthening the financial condition of the company. As a result of the strong

cash flow generated from operations during 2003, we were able to reduce total debt by $19 million and, over the past

five years, debt has been reduced by over 50% from a high of over $200 million to $94 million at the end of 2003.

The Company’s financial leverage, measured by the debt-to-capital ratio, has been lowered to 27% from over 50% in

recent years. Dividends have been paid for 50 consecutive years, and in 2003 the dividend rate was increased by 25%

to $0.80 per share reflecting strong cash flow and our confidence in long-term sustainable performance. 

Ameron stock has outperformed the general stock market index and its peer group of companies. Cumulative total

shareholder return over the past five years for Ameron was 106%, which compares to a decline of 14% experienced
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by a peer group of companies and a return of 5% by the broad NYSE market. While we have been rewarded for

consistent earnings growth, I am keenly aware that the task ahead is to continue to create value for our shareholders;

and we plan to do so.

The question is often asked, “What do you want to do with the Company?” The answer is straightforward—

continue to consistently grow earnings and reward our shareholders as has been done over the past several years.

The answer to, “How are we going to do it?” rests with development of very well-defined strategies for each

business, adherence to sound business fundamentals, and successful execution by a talented management team

worldwide. I remain confident that we will continue to deliver superior results.

JAMES S. MARLEN

Chairman of the Board,

President and Chief Executive Officer
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BUSINESS
DESCRIPTIONS 

AT A GLANCE

FIBERGLASS-COMPOSITE PIPE GROUP: Ameron manufactures and markets the

world’s most comprehensive line of fiberglass-composite pipe products under

trademarks such as Bondstrand®, Dualoy®, PSX®, Centron®, SSL™, and LCX™, for the

chemical and industrial markets and for oilfield, fuel handling, offshore and marine

applications. Ameron fiberglass pipe is a cost-effective alternative to corrosion-prone

metallic piping and non-reinforced thermoplastics. Ameron fiberglass pipe is

particularly well suited for industrial services and chemical processing because of its

ability to withstand higher temperatures and pressures than  thermoplastic materials. 

The use of fiberglass piping in secondary containment and waste-handling applications

continues to grow in response to increasingly stringent regulation of groundwater

contamination caused by corroded metallic piping. Responding to environmental risks

resulting from usage of corrodible metal piping, Ameron continues to provide gas

service station operators with the latest technology, such as Bondstrand LCX™, a coaxial

fiberglass pipe system.

Ameron serves the offshore oil production market with a wide range of lightweight,

corrosion-resistant piping products, including Bondstrand PSX® fire-resistant piping.

Bondstrand corrosion-resistant piping is also used to combat highly aggressive

environments in the marine industry. Ameron’s large-diameter polyester pipe provides

WATER TRANSMISSION GROUP: Ameron is a leader in pipe technology and a

principal supplier of highly-engineered concrete and steel pipe systems in the western

United States and Canada. American Pipe & Construction International (APCI), a

wholly-owned subsidiary, is a principal supplier of concrete and steel pipe products in

Colombia. An affiliate, Ameron Saudi Arabia, Ltd. (30%-owned) manufactures concrete

pipe in Saudi Arabia and through a joint venture in Egypt. 

Designed to satisfy the widest range of performance requirements, Ameron concrete and

steel pipe products provide long-term conveyance for water and wastewater. Typical

services include high-pressure and gravity water transmission and distribution lines,

inverted siphons in aqueducts, sewer force mains, cooling water systems for power

plants, sewer outfalls, storm drains, culverts, tunnel liners and penstocks in

hydroelectric generating plants. 

Primary Ameron product lines include heavy-wall steel pipe and concrete pressure

pipe in diameters up to 12 feet for high-pressure and medium-pressure applications,

as well as reinforced concrete pipe products for low-pressure and gravity-flow services. 

Ameron’s Protective Linings Division manufactures and markets T-Lock® and Arrow-

Lock®, polyvinyl chloride sheet linings that have been protecting concrete pipe and cast-

in-place concrete structures worldwide from the corrosive effects of sewer gases, acids

and industrial chemicals for more than 50 years. Proven T-Lock® technology is also used

in Ameron’s new T-Hab® system for rehabilitating  large-diameter sewers without

excavating city streets. Arrow-Lock® is rapidly gaining acceptance as the long life

alternative for the rehabilitation of wastewater structures and manholes.
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INFRASTRUCTURE PRODUCTS GROUP: Ameron’s Infrastructure Products Group

consists of two domestic businesses.

In Hawaii, Ameron manufactures and markets ready-mix concrete, crushed and sized

basaltic aggregates, dune sand, cultured stone veneer, concrete pipe and box culverts.

These products are sold to commercial, government, residential, military and

construction markets on the islands of Oahu and Maui. Ameron is a leading supplier of

ready-mix concrete and concrete pipe products in Hawaii.

Ameron’s Oahu-based production facilities include basaltic rock mining, crushing and

sizing facilities and a manufactured sand plant at Kapaa Quarry; a concrete pipe plant

on the western side of the island; and ready-mix concrete batch plants at Kapaa Quarry,

Sand Island and Barber’s Point. Facilities on Maui consist of quarrying and associated

ready-mix concrete operations.

Ameron’s Pole Products business supplies spun-cast concrete and steel lighting and

traffic signal poles, and bollards for low-level lighting to customers throughout the

United States. The division operates manufacturing facilities in Southern California,

Northern California, Washington, and Alabama. The highway segment of the lighting

and traffic pole business is primarily a specification market in which performance

standards are established by public and government agencies. Ameron also offers a wide

variety of traditional and contemporary lighting poles for airports, parks, parking lots,

sports facilities, and residential and commercial developments. 

corrosion-resistant properties to solve operating problems in markets such as chemical,

power generation, water and wastewater.

Centron International, Inc. (“Centron”), a wholly-owned subsidiary, serves the

worldwide oilfield market with small-diameter, high-pressure fiberglass pipe for

applications such as downhole tubing, oil flow lines and secondary recovery systems.

Ameron’s proprietary Bondstrand Steel-Strip-Laminate pipe (SSL™) combines the

proven corrosion resistance of fiberglass with the strength of steel. With these features,

SSL™ pipe provides a superior solution compared to metallic alternatives for high-

pressure, highly corrosive oilfield applications or as risers for subsea facilities. 

Ameron’s domestic plant is in Burkburnett, Texas. Centron products are manufactured

in Mineral Wells, Texas. Operations in the Netherlands serve markets in Europe, Africa

and the Middle East. Ameron’s business in Singapore and Malaysia serves the Asia-

Pacific region and exports fittings worldwide. An affiliate, Bondstrand, Ltd. (40%-

owned), manufactures fiberglass pipe products in Saudi Arabia and through a joint

venture in Kuwait.
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JOINT VENTURES: Ameron’s principal joint-venture companies include TAMCO

(50% Ameron ownership), which operates the largest mini-mill for the production of

steel rebar in California; Bondstrand, Ltd. (40% Ameron ownership), a manufacturer

of fiberglass pipe for the Saudi Arabian market; Oasis-Ameron, Ltd. (40% Ameron

ownership), which manufactures high-performance protective coatings for the Saudi

Arabian market; and Ameron Saudi Arabia, Ltd. (30% Ameron ownership), a

manufacturer of concrete pipe for sale in Saudi Arabia.

PERFORMANCE COATINGS & FINISHES GROUP: Ameron manufactures and

markets a broad line of high-performance coatings, floorings systems and product

finishes. Tradenames include Amercoat®, Amerlock®, Amershield®, Nu-Klad®,

Dimetcote®, Tideguard®, PSX®, ABC®, Steelbond®, Steelguard®, Megaflon®,

Tekaloid® and Tractol®. These products are protective and decorative coatings for

steel and concrete, manufactured goods and commercial and industrial equipment.

Ameron protective coatings products are manufactured throughout the world for

use in such diverse industries as oil and gas production, refining, petrochemical

processing, fossil and nuclear power, marine, bridge and infrastructure

maintenance, railroad, general manufacturing, pulp and paper, municipal water and

waste treatment and original equipment manufacturing.

Also, in the U.K., Australia and New Zealand, Ameron develops, manufactures and

markets product finishes for a variety of industrial markets, including original

equipment manufacturers of appliances, agricultural and construction equipment,

wood and plastic products and, in Australasia, coil coatings and powder coatings.

Ameron operates coatings plants in Arkansas, the Netherlands, England, Australia

and New Zealand. A subsidiary, Amercoat Japan Company, Ltd., markets and

distributes Ameron protective coatings in Japan. An affiliated operation, Oasis-

Ameron, Ltd. (40%-owned) is located in Saudi Arabia. Ameron coatings products

are manufactured under license in Argentina, Brazil, Canada, Columbia, Dominican

Republic, Egypt, Gabon, India, Republic of Korea, Malaysia, Mexico, Morocco,

People’s Republic of China, Peru, the Philippines, Portugal, Spain, Taiwan,

Thailand, Trinidad and Tobago, Tunisia, and Venezuela.

Performance Coatings & Finishes Group

Joint Ventures - TAMCO

BUSINESS
DESCRIPTIONS 

AT A GLANCE
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OPERATIONAL
OVERVIEW

AMERON INTERNATIONAL

WATER TRANSMISSION GROUP

FIBERGLASS-COMPOSITE 
PIPE GROUP

INFRASTRUCTURE 
PRODUCTS 
GROUP

PERFORMANCE COATINGS
& FINISHES GROUP

JOINT VENTURES

TAMCO
Bondstrand, LTD.
Ameron Saudi Arabia, LTD.
Oasis-Ameron, LTD.
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(Top) Shown above are the pier foundations being installed for the Skyway portion of the San
Francisco/Oakland Bay Bridge East Span Replacement Project. This is the largest public works
project in California and the largest ongoing bridge project in North America. The bridge
superstructure is supported by 57,000 tons of Ameron steel pilings that are 98-inches in
diameter, from 2-inch to 3-inch thick, and up to 365-feet in length.

(Above and below right) Ameron furnished this 48-inch diameter cement mortar lined and
coated welded steel pipe for the South San Joaquin Irrigation District.  This project consisted of
over 37 miles of 30-inch to 54-inch diameter pipe that will transfer 30 million gallons per day
of water to provide a reliable, supplemental source of high quality drinking water to the cities
of Tracy, Manteca and Lathrop in the central valley of California.

Water Transmission Group

The Water Transmission Group had sales of $165.5 million in 2003, an increase of $20.5 million from last year.  Segment income

of $26.6 million in 2003 was down slightly from last year’s income of $27.3 million. The decline in segment income was

attributable to higher pension and insurance costs, increased product development costs and a change in product mix, with the

lower-margin San Francisco-Oakland Bay Bridge project representing a greater portion of total Group sales in 2003. The increase

in product development cost represents research and engineering costs to develop a new sand-filled fiberglass pipe for the

national sewer rehabilitation market. The sales increase is an example of the Group’s diversification program into products other

than water piping such as specialized bridge pilings.

The short-term outlook for the Water Transmission Group is cautious in that, although sales should remain high due to continued

production for the San Francisco–Oakland Bay Bridge project, the temporary slowdown in bid activity for major core-market

projects in California will impact product mix. The order backlog at the end of 2003 was $100 million which was down from

the $152 million at the end of 2002, reflecting the recent lull in bidding activity for water projects in the western U.S. Longer

term, the market should recover as there will continue to be a strong need to expand and upgrade the water infrastructure system

in the western U.S. to meet the population growth.
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(Middle left) This 30-inch reinforced
concrete pipe for the California Department
of Transportation is being installed under
Laguna Canyon Road near Laguna Hills,
California and serves two distinct purposes:
a storm drain in the wet months and a
wildlife access under Laguna Canyon Road
during the dry months. 

(Below left) This 96-inch diameter by 24
foot long thin wall concrete pressure pipe
with T-Lock® linings is in storage awaiting
shipment and installation in a tunnel for the
5.3 mile Northeast Interceptor Sewer
(NEIS), in the City of Los Angeles.
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Fiberglass-Composite Pipe Group

Fiberglass-Composite Pipe Group sales totaled $114.6 million in 2003, compared to $88.4 million in 2002, an increase of $26.2

million. Segment income improved to $21.9 million in 2003, an increase of $11.0 million from 2002. All fiberglass pipe operations had

higher sales and segment income in 2003, with the most significant gains occurring in Ameron’s Asian operations based in Singapore

and Malaysia. European operations improved significantly due to higher sales, improved margins from lower raw material costs, and

the benefits of restructuring actions implemented late in 2002 and early 2003. U.S. operations, including Centron International, had

higher segment income as a result of the sales improvement, which occurred both in the onshore oilfield market and the offshore

market. U.S. operations also benefited from improved margins due to lower raw material costs. The Asian operations served the growing

demand of the marine and offshore markets, primarily in Korea, as well as strong industrial demand in the region. Segment income

increased significantly in Asia due to the sales volume gains, improved manufacturing productivity and lower raw material costs.

The outlook for the Fiberglass-Composite Pipe Group is favorable due to the steadily improving oilfield demand, recovery of chemical

and industrial markets in the U.S. and Europe, and the continued growth in the marine and offshore markets. 
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(Left) The Conoco Belanak FPSO, constructed by J. Ray McDermott
yard in Batam Island, will be producing in the Belanak field in South
Natuna, Indonesia. This FPSO is capable of producing 106,000
barrels of oil per day. It uses Bondstrand® fiberglass conductive
piping extensively in the following applications: ballast piping,
seawater service, sounding pipe, inert gas product piping, slop
drains, topside-seawater cooling and potable water systems.

(Above) J. Ray McDermott selected Ameron’s Bondstrand® fiberglass
for two 4-leg wellhead platforms designed for unmanned and remote
operation in the Natuna Sea near Indonesia. Bondstrand® fiberglass
pipe is used for the firewater system and drain lines. 

(Above) The floating production storage offloading vessel (FPSO)
Serpentina built in the Keppel Shipyard in Singapore required
more than 1000 meters of Ameron fiberglass pipe. 

(Right) The Inigo Tapias is the second in a series of five LNG
carriers being built at the Spanish IZAR shipyards. Bondstrand®

glassfiber reinforced epoxy pipe was selected for a number of
engine room pipe systems as replacements for copper nickel
piping.
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Infrastructure Products Group
The Infrastructure Products Group had sales of $130.5 million in 2003, compared to $123.6 million in 2002, an increase of $6.9

million. Both the Pole Products operation and the Hawaiian operation achieved higher sales. Pole Products had higher decorative

concrete pole sales for street lighting applications in the southeastern U.S. and in California, which more than offset lower sales of steel

poles used primarily in highway lighting and traffic control signal applications. The increase in concrete pole sales was attributable to

the continued strength in the residential housing market, which has been favorably impacted by the low interest rate environment and

market expansion progress made in the southeastern U.S. In Hawaii, the increase in sales also reflected the continued strength of the

residential housing market, improved commercial construction activity and increased government and military construction spending,

primarily for base housing requirements. The Infrastructure Products Group had lower segment income, $15.5 million in 2003,

compared to $17.0 million in 2002. The decline was attributable principally to higher insurance and pension costs, which offset the

increase in earnings associated with the higher sales level.

The outlook for both the Pole Products operation and the Hawaiian operation is favorable as the near-term forecast of construction

activity in Oahu and Maui is solid, and the continued strength expected in the U.S. housing market should benefit pole sales.
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(Opposite page) Gracing the West Maui shoreline,
Kaanapali Ocean Resorts has 300 luxury timeshare
units in two complexes. The project required 30,000
cubic yards of ready-mix concrete from Ameron Hawaii.

(Top) The Tulalip Tribal Reservation near Marysville,
Washington selected Ameron spun-cast concrete poles to
beautify their streetscape project. 

(Middle left) Corsican series poles at Ameron’s
Fillmore, California facility are ready for shipping.
Consistency of product allowed Pole Products to achieve
ISO 9001 certification in 2003.

(Right) The Quail Hill development project by the Irvine
Company utilized Ameron decorative concrete base
poles for their street lighting application. Virtually
maintenance-free, attractiveness and durability are
benefits that make Ameron the product of choice for city
streetscapes.

(Left Bottom) Ameron Hawaii provided 10,000 cubic
yards of concrete for precast panels and beams used in
the construction of the University of Hawaii’s new $300
million medical school. 



(Above) The Chinese Architectural Building Control
Department chose Ameron’s Steelguard® intumescent
coating to protect the highest office tower in the world,
called ‘Building 101’ located in Taipei, Taiwan. 

(Right) The Alfred Zamba Memorial Bridge is the first
and largest orthotropic box girder suspension bridge in the
United States. The bridge spans the Carquinez straits
north of San Francisco, California and is protected by
Ameron’s high-performance coating system.

Performance Coatings & Finishes Group
The Performance Coatings & Finishes Group had sales of $190.3 million in 2003, compared to $183.3 million in 2002, an increase of

$7.0 million. Segment income of $9.4 million was slightly higher than the $9.1 million earned in 2002. The sales increase was due to

the favorable effect of exchange rates; primarily the weak U.S. dollar versus the euro. Excluding the exchange rate impact, sales declined

in local currencies. European operations’ sales volume was relatively flat, U.S. operations were lower than in 2002, and Australasia

operations’ sales were also lower. The lower sales were attributable principally to the weak chemical and industrial markets worldwide,

while the key marine and offshore markets outside the U.S. improved. In spite of the increased sales, segment income, although higher,

was constrained by lower European margins due to competition in certain U.S. dollar-denominated markets served by European

operations, and higher insurance and pension costs. Lower SG&A expenses associated with restructuring programs in both the U.S.

and Europe more than offset the increased pension and insurance costs.

The outlook for the Performance Coatings & Finishes Group is dependent on recovery of capital spending and maintenance programs

in the chemical and industrial markets in the U.S. and Europe. The business should benefit from the economic recovery, and the marine

and offshore markets should strengthen worldwide.
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(Above) Shown here is the living quarters for Anadarko Tarantula, a
fixed 4-leg production platform. The platform will be set in the Gulf
of Mexico and has the capacity to produce 100 million cubic feet of
natural gas per day and 30,000 barrels of oil per day. A variety of
Ameron high-performance coatings were used throughout the
platform.

(Right) Amerlock® 2 and PSX®1001 provide high performance
service for Crowley Maritime service tugs in the hostile Alaska
environment.
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(Top) The Transocean Marianas is a
deepwater semi-submersible moveable rig
capable of being moored in 7,000 feet of
water. This rig can be found primarily in the
waters of the Gulf of Mexico and is protected
with Ameron’s Amercoat® 302H reinforced
inorganic zinc, Amercoat® 385 multi-purpose
epoxy and Amercoat® 450HS gloss aliphatic
polyurethane topcoat. 

(Above) Amercoat® 302 and PSX®700 were
used to protect and beautify the steel
structures on the newly erected sections of
the Telstra Stadium in Sydney, Australia.
Shown here is the opening game of the 2003
Rugby World Cup between Australia and
Argentina.

(Right) Ameron manufacturing operations
located in Little Rock, Arkansas recently
completed a series of capital projects to
replace and upgrade equipment. Shown here
are several totally enclosed 500-gallon, state-
of-the-art, high speed dispersion vessels,
capable of producing all modern coatings,
including 100% solids products.

(Right page) Bollinger-Gretna LLC chose
Ameron’s high-performance marine coatings
to protect the first of two ocean-going oil
barges. This 430-foot barge has a capacity of
holding 110,000 barrels of petroleum
products. 
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(Above) Automatic billet torch cutting at the continuous
caster in TAMCO’s steel mini-mill located in Rancho
Cucamonga, California.

(Above Right) Melt Shop – Finishing end of the continuous
caster. 

(Middle Right) Finished steel reinforcing bar (rebar) awaiting
shipment to TAMCO’s customers in California, Nevada and
Arizona.

(Bottom Right) Strand pouring at the continuous caster of
molten steel at 3000˚F.

Joint Ventures

Ameron’s primary joint-venture companies had higher sales in 2003, increasing from $208.4 million in 2002 to $228.8 million.

The increase was due primarily to higher volume and selling prices at TAMCO, higher fiberglass pipe sales by Bondstrand, Ltd.,

and higher performance coatings sales at Oasis-Ameron, Ltd., offset partially by lower concrete pipe sales by Ameron Saudi Arabia,

Ltd. Income from joint-venture companies was down primarily as a result of lower earnings at TAMCO, due to higher energy costs

and rapidly rising scrap costs. Selling price increases continue to be implemented by TAMCO to offset the escalating scrap cost

caused by heavy offshore demand.
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Year ended November 30,

(Dollars in thousands, except per share data) 2003 2 0 0 2 2 0 0 1 2 0 0 0 1 9 9 9

Per Common Share Data ( 1 )
Net income—basic $ 3.77 $ 3.61 $ 3.58 $ 3.21 $ 2.79

Net income—diluted 3.67 3.49 3.45 3.21 2.77

Dividends .76 .64 .64 .64 .64

Weighted-average shares (basic) 7,925,229 7,772,032 7,742,690 7,893,132 7,992,474

Weighted-average shares (diluted) 8,149,460 8,052,164 8,048,588 7,905,026 8,046,496

Stock price – high 35.53 38.74 38.94 21.50 23.88

Stock price – low 24.89 22.26 17.03 16.10 17.35

Price/earnings ratio (range) 10-7 11-6 11-5 7-5 9 - 7

Operating Results
Sales $ 600,495 $ 539,473 $ 551,396 $ 550,661 $ 545,081

Gross profit 166,488 141,883 138,084 139,792 142,982

Interest expense, net (6,645) (6,836) (10,213) (12,244) (12,938)

Provision for income taxes (14,070) (14,454) (10,850) (8,448) (10,482)

Net income 29,900 28,059 27,741 25,345 22,273

Net income/sales 5.0% 5.2% 5.0% 4.6% 4.1%

Return on equity 12.8% 13.5% 14.3% 14.1% 12.9%

Financ i al Condition at Year- end
Working capital $ 177,009 $ 149,205 $ 155,356 $ 135,626 $ 123,748

Property, plant and equipment, net 150,586 145,242 145,801 145,196 149,597

Investments in joint ventures

Equity method 13,064 12,940 12,793 15,786 17,126

Cost method 5,479 5,987 5,987 5,987 5,920

Total assets 533,492 462,942 485,080 478,449 470,569

Long-term debt, less current portion 86,044 102,823 137,197 140,718 135,237

Cash Flow
Expenditures for property, plant and equipment $ 17,107 $ 14,514 $ 19,297 $ 21,050 $ 19,672

Depreciation and amortization 18,371 18,572 18,633 18,022 18,986

(1) Share and per share data reflect a two-for-one stock split declared in 2003.

SELECTED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL INFORMATION
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Ameron International Corporation (“Ameron” or the “Company”) is a multinational manufacturer of highly-engineered products and
materials fo r the chemical, industrial, energy, transportation and inf rastructure markets. Ameron is a leading producer of water
transmission lines; high-performance coating s and finish es for the protection of metals and s tructures; fiberglass-composite pipe for
transporting oil, chemicals and c orrosive fluids and s pecialized materials and products used in inf rastructure projects. The Company
operates businesses in North America, South America, Europe, Australasia and Asia. The Company has four operating segments. The
Performance Coatings & Finishes Group manufactures and markets high-performance industrial and marine coatings. The Fiberglass-
Composite Pipe Group manufactures and markets filament-wound and molded composite fiberglass pipe, tubing, fittings and well screens.
The Water Transmission Group manufactures and supplies concrete and steel pressure pipe, concrete non-pressure pipe, protective linings
for pipe, and fabricated steel products. The Infrastructure Products Group manufactures and sells ready-mix concrete, sand and aggregates,
concrete pipe and culverts, and concrete and steel lighting and traffic poles. The markets served by the Performance Coatings & Finishes
Group and the Fiberglass-Composite Pipe Group are worldwide in scope. The Water Transmission Group serves primarily the western U.S.
The Infrastructure Products Group’s quarry and ready-mix business operates exclusively in Hawaii, and poles are sold throughout the U.S.
Ameron also participates in several joint-venture companies, directly in the U.S. and Saudi Arabia, and indirectly in Kuwait and Egypt.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND ESTIMATES

Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Liquidity and Capital Resources and Results of Operations are based upon the Company’s
consolidated financial statements, which have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States of America. The preparation of these financial statements requires management to make certain estimates and assumptions that
affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses,and related disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities during the
reporting periods. Management bases its estimates on historical experience and on various other assumptions that are believed to b e
reasonable under the cir cumstances, the results of which form the basis for making judgments about the carrying values of assets and
liabilities. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

The Company’s significant accounting policies are disclosed in Note 1 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements in the Company’s 2003
Annual Report. Management believes th e following accounting policies affect the more significant estimates used in preparing the
consolidated financial statements.

The consolidated financial statements include the acc ounts of Ameron and all wh olly-owned subsidiaries. All material intercompany
accounts and transactions have been eliminated. The funct ional currencies for the Company’s foreign operations are the applicable local
currencies. The translation from the applicable foreign currencies to U.S. dollars is performed for balance sheet accounts using current
exchange rates in effect at the balance sheet date and for revenue and expense accounts using a weighted-average exchange rate during the
period. The resulting translation adjustments are recorded in accumulated other comprehensive loss. The Company advances funds to
certain foreign subsidiaries that are not expected to be repaid in the foreseeable future. Translation adjustments arising from these advances
are also incl uded in accu mulated other co mprehensive loss. The ti ming of repayments of intercompany advances could impact the
components of equity on the Company’s consolidated balance sheets but would not be expected to impact consolidated income statements.
Additionally, earnings of foreign subsidiaries are often reinvested outside the U.S. Repatriation of such earnings could result in unrecognized
U.S. tax liability. Gains or losses resulting from foreign currency transactions are included in other income.

Revenue for the Performance Coatings & Finishes, Fiberglass-Composite Pipe and Infrastructure Products segments is recognized when risk
of ownership and title pass, primarily at the time good s are shipped, provided that an agreement exists between the customer and the
Company, the price is fixed or determinable and collection is reasonably assured. In limited circumstances within the Performance Coatings
& Finishes Group, revenue recognition associated with shipment of coatings for marine dry dockings is delayed until product returns are
processed. Revenue is recognized for the Water Transmission Group primarily under the percentage-of-completion method, typically based
on completed units of production, since products manufactured under enfo rceable and b inding construction contracts typically are
designed for specific applications, are not interchangeable between projects, and are not manufactured for stock. In some cases, if products
are manufactured for stock or are not related to specific construction contracts, revenue is recognized under the same criteria used by the
other three segments. Revenue under the per centage-of-completion method is subject to a greater level of estimation, which affects the
timing of revenue recognition, costs and profits. Estimates are reviewed on a consistent basis and are adjusted periodically to reflect current
expectations.

The Company expenses environmental clean-up costs related to existing conditions resulting from past or current operations on a site-by-
site basis. Liabilities and costs associated with these matters, as well as other pending litigation and asserted claims arising in the ordinary
course of business, require estimates of future costs and judgements based on the knowledge and experience of management and its legal
counsel.When estimates of the Company’s exposure can be reasonably estimated and are probable, liabilities and expenses are recorded. The
ultimate resolution of any such exposure to the Company may differ due to subsequent developments.

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or market with cost determined principally on the first-in, first-out (FIFO) method. Certain steel
inventories used by the Water Transmission Group are valued using the last-in, first-out (LIFO) method. Reserves are established for excess,
obsolete and rework inventories based on age, estimates of salability and forecasted future demand. Management records an allowance for
doubtful accounts receivable based on historical experience and expected trends.A significant reduction in demand or significant worsening
of customer credit quality could materially impact the Company’s consolidated financial statements. Property, plant and equipment is stated

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL 
CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
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on the basis of cost and depreciated principally on a straight-line method based on the estimated useful lives of the related assets, generally
two to 40 years.

Investments in unconsolidated joint ventures or affiliates (“joint ventures”) over which the Company has significant influence are accounted
for under the equity method of accounting, whereby the investment is carried at the cost of acquisition, plus the Company’s equity in
undistributed earnings or losses since acquisition. Investments in joint ventures over which the Company does not have the ability to exert
significant influence over the investee’s operating and financing activ ities are accounted for under the cost method of accounting. The
Company’s investment in TAMCO is accounted for under the equity method. Investments in Ameron Saudi Arabia, Ltd., Bondstrand, Ltd.
and Oasis-Ameron, Ltd. are accounted for under the cost method due to management’s current assessment of the Company’s influence over
these joint ventures.

The Company reviews long-lived assets for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value of
such assets may not be recoverable.If the estimated future, undiscounted cash flows from the use of an asset are less than its carrying value,
a write-down is recorded to reduce the related assets to estimated fair value.

The Company is self insured for a portion of the losses and liabilities primarily associated with workers’ compensation claims and general,
product and vehicle liability. Losses are accrued based upon the Company’s estimates of the aggregate liability for claims incurred using
historical experience and certain actuarial assumptions followed in the insurance industry. The estimate of self insurance liability includes
an estimate of incurred but not reported clai ms, based on data compiled from historical exper ience. Actual experience could differ
significantly from these estimates and could materially impact the Company’s consolidated financial statements.

The Co mpany follows th e guidance of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS”) No. 87, “Employers’ Accounting fo r
Pensions,”and SFAS No. 106, “Employers’ Accounting for Postretirement Benefits Other Than Pensions,” when accounting for pension and
other postretirement benefits. Under these accounting standards, assumptions are made regarding the valuation of benefit obligations and,
in certain cases the performance of plan assets that are controlled and invested by third-party fiduciaries. Delayed recognition of differences
between actual results and expected or estimated results is a guiding principle of these standards. Such delayed recognition provides a
gradual recognition of benefit obligations and investment performance over the working lives of the employees who benefit under the plans,
based on various assumptions. Unforecasted program changes, including termination, freezing of benefits or acceleration of benefits, could
result in an immediate recognition of unrecognized benefit obligations; and such recognition could materially impact the C ompany’s
consolidated financial statements. Assumed discount rates are used to calculate the present value of benefit payments which are projected
to be made in the future, including projections of increases in employees’ annual compensation and health care costs. Management also
projects the future return on invested assets based principally on prior performance and future expectations. These projected returns reduce
the net benefit costs the Company records in the current period. Management consults with actuaries when determining these assumptions.

During 2003, the Company changed th e assumed discount rate, expected rate of return on assets and projected rates of increase in
compensation levels and health care costs. The discount rate is based on market interest rates.At November 30,2003, the Company decreased
the discount rate from 6.75% to 6.00% as a result of the then current market interest rates on long-term, fixed-income debt securities of
highly-rated corporations. In estimating the expected return on assets, the Company considers past performance and future expectations
for various types of investments as well as the expected long-term allocation of assets. At November 30, 2003, the Company reduced the
expected long-term rate of return on assets assumption from 9.75% to 8.75% to reflect reduced expectations for future returns in the equity
markets. In projecting the rate of increase in compensation levels, the Company considers movements in inflation rates as reflected by
market interest rates. At November 30, 2003, the Company decreased the assumed annual rate of compensation increase from 4.25% to
3.50%. In selecting the rate of increase in health care costs, the Company considers past performance and forecasts of future health care cost
trends.At November 30, 2003, the Company increased the rate of increase in health care costs from 9.00% to 10.00%, decreasing ratably until
reaching 5.00% in 2008 and beyond.

Different assumptions would impact the Company’s projected benefit obligations and annual net periodic benefit costs related to pensions,
and the accrued other benefit obligations and benefit costs related to postretirement benefits. The following reflects the impact associated
with a change in certain assumptions (in thousands):

1% Increase 1% Decrease

Increase Increase Increase Increase
(Decrease) (Decrease) (Decrease) (Decrease)

in Benefit in Benefit in Benefit in Benefit
Obligations Costs Obligations Costs

Discount Rate:
Pensions $(24,989) $ (3,130) $30,639 $ 3,849

Other postretirement benefits (272) (13) 319 (3)

Expected rate of return on assets Not Applicable (1,303) Not Applicable 1,303

Rate of increase in compensation levels 4,731 1,032 (4,274) (889)

Rate of increase in health care costs 111 16 (96) (18)

Additional information regarding pensions and other postretirement benefits is disclosed in Note 15 of Notes to Consolidated Financial
Statements in the Company’s 2003 Annual Report.

Management incentive compensation is accrued based on current estimates of the Company’s ability to achieve short-term and long-term
performance targets.

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are computed for differences between the financial statement and income tax bases of assets and
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liabilities. Such deferred income tax asset and liability computations are based on enacted tax laws and rates applicable to periods in which
the differences are expected to reverse.No deferred taxes have been provided for the undistributed earnings of Ameron’s foreign subsidiaries
that are expected to be permanently reinvested offshore. Valuation allowances are established, when necessary, to reduce deferred income
tax assets to the amo unts expected to be realized. Quarterly income taxes are estimated based on the mix of income by jurisdiction
forecasted for the full fiscal year. The Company believes that it has adequately provided for tax-related matters. The Company is subject to
examination by taxing authorities in var ious jurisdictions. Matters raised upon audit may involve substantial amounts and could be
material. Management considers it unlikely that resolution of any such matters would have a material adverse effect upon the Company’s
consolidated financial statements.

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

During 2003, the Company generated $43.2 million of cash from operating activities compared to $54.6 million in the same period in 2002.
The lower operating cash flow in 2003 was due to an increase in operating assets partially offset by an increase in operating liabilities. Much
of the asset change came fro m higher receivables and hi gher other assets. Receivables grew due to increased sales and the ti ming of
collections. Other assets rose due to an increase in the cash surrender value of life insurance policies related to executive benefit plans and
prepaid costs related to pensions. Operating liabilities increased due partly to higher pension liabilities and also to defer red payments
associated with the settlement of the Central Arizona Project lawsuits reached in January 2003.

Net cash used in investing activities totaled $13.9 million in 2003, compared to $14.0 million in 2002. Net cash used in investing activities
consisted of proceeds from the sale of assets, including $3.0 million from the sale of the Company’s interest in a Mexican coatings venture
in 2003, offset by capital expenditur es which w ere primarily for normal replacement and upgrades of machinery and equip ment.
Additionally, a coatings distribution warehouse was purchased in 2003 for $1.3 million. During the fiscal year ending November 30, 2004,
the Company anticipates spending between $20 and $30 million on capital expenditures. Capital expenditures are expected to be funded by
existing cash balances, cash generated from operations or additional borrowings.

Net cash used in financing activities was $19.8 million in 2003, compared to $41.9 million in 2002. The net cash used in 2003 consisted of
the net repayment of debt of $18.8 million, debt issuance costs of $1.6 million, payment of common stock dividends totaling $6.1 million,
offset by $6.6 million from the issuance of common stock related to the exercise of stock options.

In January 2003, the Company finalized a three-year, $100 million revolving credit facility with six banks (the “Revolver”). Under the Revolver,
the Company may, at its option, borrow at floating interest rates based on specified margins over money market rates, at any time until January
2006, when all borrowings under the Revolver must be repaid. Also in January 2003, the Company issued $50 million of notes payable to an
insurance company at a fixed rate of 5.36%. These fixed-rate notes are payable $10 million per year beginning in November 2005, with a final
maturity in November 2009. The Revolver and the 5.36% notes payable replaced a $150 million revolving credit facility that was maintained at
November 30, 2002.

The lending agreements contain various restrictive covenants, including the requirement to maintain specified amounts of net worth and
restrictions on cash dividends, borrowings, liens, investments and guarantees. The Company is required to maintain consolidated net worth
of $181.5 million plus 50% of net income and 75% of proceeds from any equity issued after January 24, 2003. The Company’s consolidated
net worth exceeded the covenant amount by $71.1 million as of November 30, 2003. The Company is required to maintain a consolidated
leverage ratio of consolidated funded indebtedness to earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization (“EBITDA”) of no more
than 3 times. As of November 30, 2003, the Company maintained a consolidated leverage ratio of 1.43 times EBITDA. The Revolver and the
notes payable require that the Company maintain qualified consolidated tangible assets at least equal to the outstanding secured funded
indebtedness.As of November 30, 2003 qualifying tangible assets equaled 1.89 times funded indebtedness. Under the most restrictive fixed
charge coverage ratio, the sum of EBITDA, rental expense and cash taxes must be at least 1.5 times the sum of interest expense, rental
expense, dividends and scheduled funded debt payments. As of November 30, 2003, the Company maintained a ratio of 2.38.

Cash and cash equivalents at November 30, 2003 totaled $20.4 million, an increase of $10.0 million from November 30, 2002. At November
30, 2003, the Company had total debt outstanding of $94.4 million and approximately $104 million in unused committed and uncommitted
credit lines available from foreign and domestic banks. The Company’s highest borrowing and the average borrowing levels during 2003
were $166.6 million and $107.7 million, respectively. The highest borrowing was $50.0 million higher than necessary to fund operations due
to the refinancing in 2003, as the new debt was issued prior to the repayment of the replaced debt.

Management believes that cash flows from operations and current cash balances, together with currently available lines of credit will be
sufficient to meet operating requirements in 2004. Cash available from operations could be affected by any general economic downturn or
any downturn or adverse changes in the Company’s business, such as lo ss of customers or significant raw material price increases.
Management believes it is unlikely that business or economic conditions will worsen or that costs will increase sufficiently to impact short-
term liquidity.
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The Company’s contractual obligations and commercial commitments at November 30, 2003 are summarized as follows (in thousands):

(a) Included in long-term debt is $3,677 outstanding under a revolving credit facility, due in 2006, supported by the Revolver.

(b) The Company has no capitalized lease obligations, unconditional purchase obligations, or standby repurchase obligations.

(c) Not included are standby letters of credit totaling $16,065 supporting industrial development bonds with a principal of $15,700. The
principal amount of the industrial development bonds is included in long-term debt.

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS: 2003 COMPARED WITH 2002

General

Net income totaled $29.9 million, or $3.67 per diluted share, on sales of $600.5 million for the year ended November 30, 2003, compared to
net income of $28.1 million, or $3.49 per diluted share, on sales of $539.5 million for the same period in 2002. All operating segments had
higher sales. The Performance Coatings & Finishes and Fiberglass-Composite Pipe Groups had higher segment income, while the Water
Transmission and Infrastructure Products Groups had lower segment income. The increase in net inco me came from higher sales and
higher gross profit, offset by higher selling, general and administrative expenses and lower equity in earnings of TAMCO.

Sales

Sales increased by $61.0 million in 2003. While all operating segments improved, the largest gains came from the Company’s Fiberglass-
Composite Pipe and the Water Transmission businesses. The Fiberglass-Composite Pipe Group benefited from strong demand in Asia for
fiberglass piping for construction of offshore oil and marine vessels, and the Water Transmission Group’s increase came from the fabrication
of steel pilings for the San Francisco/Oakland Bay Bridge.

Performance Coatings & Finishes’ sales increased by $7.0 million due to the appreciation of foreign currencies relative to the U.S.dollar. Sales
in local currencies by operations outside the U.S. were relatively flat, while sales in the U.S. were lower. Sales of protective coatings in the
U.S. declined due to continued sluggishness in U.S. chemical, industrial and marine markets caused by general economic conditions. The
industrial markets in Europe were similarly sluggish. However, the international demand for offshore and marine coatings improved in
2003. Future improvements by the group remain dependent on increased spending in worldwide industrial, marine and offshore markets,
which appear to be strengthening. A market improvement should bode well for the Performance Coatings & Finishes Group.

Fiberglass-Composite Pipe’s sales increased by $26.2 million due primarily to the strength of Asian operations and partly to the impact of
favorable foreign exchange rates. Asian operations benefited from the strong worldwide demand for oil tankers and offshore production
vessels driven by high oil prices. The industrial markets in the U.S. and Europe remained depressed due to general economic conditions.
Sales of onshore oilfield piping improved during 2003 as oil prices remained at a relatively high level and oilfield spending increased. The
outlook for the Fiberglass-Composite Pipe Group is positive and improving.

The Water Transmission Group’s sales increased in 2003 by $20.5 million due to sales of steel pilings for the San Francisco/Oakland Bay
Bridge. Sales of concrete and steel pipe for fresh and waste water applications declined during the year due to a cyclical slowdown in the
water market in the western U.S. Revenue is recognized in the Water Transmission Group primarily under the percentage-of-completion
method and is subject to a cer tain level of estimation, which affects the timi ng of revenue recognition, costs and profits. Estimates are
reviewed on a consistent basis and are adjusted when ac tual results are expected to significantly differ from those estimates. Water
Transmission’s year-end backlog was lower than at the end of 2002, reflecting the recent lull in water projects in the western U.S. The
business may be unable to sustain the unusually high level of the last several years in 2004; however, the future outlook for the Water
Transmission Group remains positive.

Payments Due by Period

Less than 1 - 3 3 - 5 After 5
Contractu al Obligations Total 1 year years years years

Long-Term Debt (a) $ 9 4 , 3 7 7 $ 8 , 3 3 3 $ 4 0 , 3 4 4 $ 20,000 $ 25,700

Operating Leases 3 6 , 9 6 3 4 , 6 9 4 6 , 3 8 5 4 , 1 4 7 2 1 , 7 3 7

Total Contractual Obligations (b) $1 3 1 , 3 4 0 $ 1 3 , 0 2 7 $ 4 6 , 7 2 9 $ 2 4 , 1 4 7 $ 4 7 , 4 3 7

Commitments

Expiring Per Period

Less than 1 - 3 3 - 5 After 5
Commerc i al Commitment s Total 1 year years years years

Standby Letters of Credit (c) $ 2,150 $ 2,150 $ — $ — $ —

Total Commercial Commitments (b) $ 2 , 1 5 0 $ 2 , 1 5 0 $ — $ — $ —
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Infrastructure Products’ sales increased by $6.9 million due to strong housing and commercial construction spending, which was spurred
by low interest rates. Ameron’s Hawaiian operations benefited from improved demand for ready-mix concrete and concrete pipe used for
public infrastructure, housing and military construction. Ameron’s pole business had higher sales of concrete poles used in street lighting,
primarily associated with housing starts. Sales of steel traffic poles declined due to the lack of steel tubes. The outlook for the Infrastructure
Products Group remains favorable.

Gross Profit

Gross profit in 2003 was $166.5 million, or 27.7% of sales, compared to gross profit of $141.9 million, or 26.3% of sales, in 2002. Gross profit
increased $24.6 million due to higher sales and improved margins. Overall margins improved primarily due to a change in product mix as
the proportion of higher-margin fiberglass-pipe sales increased.

Gross profit of the Performance Coatings & Finishes Group increased by $2.8 million, with $2.0 million from higher profit on increased sales
and $.8 million from higher margins. Margins improved due to better inventory management in 2003, with lower reserves needed for
obsolete and slow-moving inventory.

The Fiberglass-Composite Pipe Group’s gross profit increased $14.3 million in 2003. The increase was based almost equally on higher sales
and higher margins. Gross profit margins improved due to lower raw material costs of $2.0 million, and improved plant efficiencies of $5.2
million. Plant efficiencies improved due to more balanced use of capacity and cost containment programs initiated in 2002.

Gross profit of the Water Transmission Group increased $4.2 million due to higher sales. However, profit margins decreased, offsetting the
increase in gross profit by approximately $1.0 million. Margins were impacted by a change in product mix in 2003 due to the higher level of
lower-margin steel pilings. The supply of steel pilings for the San Francisco/Oakland Bay Bridge is roughly 50% completed. The balance of
the pilings are expected to be supplied in 2004, thus margins in 2004 are expected to be similarly impacted as in 2003.

The Infrastructure Products Group’s gross profit increased $1.1 million, on slightly lower margins, due to higher sales. Margins declined as
the mix of concrete pole sales included a higher proportion of lower-margin, smaller poles.

Additionally, gross profit was $2.1 million higher in 2003 due primarily to the establishment in 2002 of reserves associated with LIFO
accounting of certain steel inventories and certain slow-moving fiberglass-pipe inventories which did not repeat in 2003.

Selling, General and Administrative Expenses

Selling, general and administrative (“SG&A”) expenses totaled $127.4 million, or 21.2% of sales, in 2003, compared to $105.9 million, or
19.6%,in 2002. SG&A increased $21.5 million due to higher pension costs of $9.6 million and higher costs for third-party insurance coverage
of $2.9 million.Additionally, SG&A in 2003 included higher new product development and marketing costs of $3.5 million, higher employee
benefit costs of $2.8 million, higher legal fees of $1.4 million and higher marketing costs associated with higher sales of $.7 million. The
appreciation of foreign currencies increased SG&A of the Company’s foreign operations by about $4.7 million in 2003; however, the increase
was more than offset by the estimated impact of cost reduction programs initiated in 2002. Legal fees were higher due to asbestos and silica
claims and due to lower recovery related to the Central Arizona Project lawsuits. In 2003, $1.0 million was recovered representing amounts
agreed to be reimbursed to the Company by its own and a supplier’s insurance companies for past legal fe es and costs in excess of the
negotiated settlement of the Central Arizona Project lawsuits reached in January 2003. The resolution of the lawsuit enabled the reversal in
2002 of reserves totaling $1.7 million. Pension and insurance costs are expected to be stable in 2004.

Equity in Earnings of Joint Venture and Other Income

Equity in earnings of joint venture decreased to $.7 million in 2003 from $3.6 million in 2002. Equity income declined due to TAMCO,
Ameron’s 50%-owned mini-mill in California. Ameron’s equity in TAMCO’s earnings decreased as TAMCO suffered throughout 2003 from
higher energy and scrap costs. Energy costs reflected the lingering impact of California’s electricity crisis. Scrap costs rose due to demand
for Asian consumption. TAMCO is increasing pricing to recoup these cost increases, and operating results for TAMCO are expected to
improve in 2004.

Other income increased to $10.9 million in 2003 from $9.8 million in 2002. Other income included earnings from investments accounted for
under the cost method, royalties and fees from licensees, foreign currency transaction gains and losses, and other miscellaneous income.
Included in 2003 was a gain of $2.5 million on the sale of Ameron’s minorit y interest in a Mexican coatings venture. Income from
investments accounted for under th e cost method increased from $5.9 million in 2002 to $6.3 million in 2003. The increase was due
primarily to higher dividends received from Ameron’s fiberglass-pipe joint venture in Saudi Arabia. The near-term outlook for Ameron’s
Saudi Arabian joint ventures is uncertain given the competitive environment facing each business.

Interest

Interest expense totaled $6.6 million in 2003, compared to $6.8 million in 2002. The decrease reflected lower average borrowing levels in
2003 offset by the higher interest on the fixed-rate notes placed early in 2003.

Provision for Income Taxes

The provision for income taxes in 2003 was $14.1 million, a decrease of $.4 million from 2002. The effective tax rate decreased to 32% in
2003 from 34% in 2002. The effective tax rate was lower due to the increase of foreign profits, especially from Asia, and lower foreign income
tax rates.
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RESULTS OF OPERATIONS: 2002 COMPARED WITH 2001

General

Net income totaled $28.1 million, or $3.49 per diluted share, on sales of $539.5 million for the year ended November 30, 2002, compared to
net income of $27.7 million, or $3.45 per diluted share, on sales of $551.4 million for the same period in 2001. Higher segment income from
the Infrastructure Products Group more than offset lower segment income from the other three groups. The overall improvement in net
income came primarily from higher operating margins, higher equity income and lower interest expense.

Sales

Sales decreased by $11.9 million in 2002 primarily due to the sluggishness in U.S. and European chemical and industrial markets, as well as
softening in the worldwide oilfield market, that negatively impacted the Company’s Fiberglass-Composite Pipe and Performance Coatings &
Finishes Groups. The strong U.S. housing market and continued infrastructure spending helped boost sales of the Water Transmission and
Infrastructure Products Groups.

Performance Coatings & Finishes’ sales decreased by $5.4 million because of the decline in sales of high-performance protective coatings by
the Company’s U.S. and European operations due to general economic conditions. Market demand remained weak throughout 2002. Sales
of light-industrial finishes in Australia and New Zealand were higher, reflecting improved economic conditions.

The Fiberglass-Composite Pipe Group’s sales decreased by $18.5 million in 2002, compared to 2001, due to sluggishness in domestic and
European industrial and fuel-handling markets, as well as softening in the worldwide oilfield market. Demand for oilfield piping remained
lower throughout the year because of lower spending associated with uncertainty regarding the sustainability of oil prices. Additionally,
Ameron’s U.S. industrial business completed deliveries of a large water pipeline for a project in California during 2001 that did not repeat in
2002.

The Water Transmission Group had $1.8 million higher sales in 2002 than in 2001, primarily as a result of a major sewer pipe project in
Southern California and demand for water piping to meet the needs of population growth, infrastructure rehabilitation and the energy
markets. During 2002, the Water Transmission Group received a $57 million contract to provide steel pilings for the renovation of the San
Francisco / Oakland Bay Bridge. The project did not materially impact 2002.

The Infrastructure Products Group completed 2002 with $9.8 million higher sales. Ameron’s Hawaiian operations benefited from the
continued strength of residential, military and road construction in Hawaii. Sales of poles increased as low interest rates continued to drive
the strong U.S. housing market.

Gross Profit

Gross profit in 2002 was $141.9 million or 26.3% of sales, compared to gross profit of $138.1 million or 25.0% of sales in 2001. Gross profit
would have declined an estimated $3.0 million due to lower sales; however, the decline was more than offset by profits associated with higher
margins, totaling about $6.8 million. Gross margins increased due a to change in product and project mix, lower raw material costs and
improved plant utilization.

Performance Coatings & Finishes’ benefited from productivity enhancements, as well as favorable raw material costs. Likewise, margins of
the Fiberglass-Composite Pipe Group improved as a result of profitability enhancements, favorable product and project mix and lower raw
material costs. Margins of the Water Transmission Group declined due to unfavorable product and project mix and production delays
associated with the San Francisco/Oakland Bay Bridge. Infrastructure Products had higher margins as a result of the better product mix,
increased plant utilization and more consistent production by the new concrete pole plant in Alabama.

Selling, General and Administrative Expenses

Selling, general and administrative expenses totaled $105.9 million or 19.6% of sales in 2002, compared to $101.8 million or 18.5% in 2001.
The $4.1 million incr ease in expenses was due pr imarily to higher pension costs of approximately $4.9 million, and severance and
productivity enhancement costs for the U.S. and European Fiberglass-Composite Pipe operations and U.S. Performance Coatings & Finishes
operation of $2.1 million . Partially offsetting the increases was a reversal of $1.7 million of reserves previously established for the Central
Arizona Project lawsuit, based on the settlement reached in early 2003.

Equity in Earnings of Joint Venture and Other Income

Equity in earnings of joint venture increased to $3.6 million in 2002 from $2.3 million in 2001. Equity income improved as TAMCO benefited
from continued demand for rebar in the western U.S. and stable energy supplies.

Other income included earnings from investments accounted for under the cost method, royalties and fees from licensees, foreign currency
transaction gains and losses, and other miscellaneous income. Other income decrease to $9.8 million from $10.3 million in 2001 primarily
due to lower royalties and fees. Income from investments accounted for under the cost method decreased from $6.3 million in 2001 to $5.9
million in 2002. The decrease was due primarily to reduced dividends from Ameron’s coatings ventures in Mexico and Saudi Arabia.

Interest

Interest expense totaled $7.0 mi llion in 2002, compared to $10.5 million in 2001. The decrease reflected lower rates and lower average
borrowing levels in 2002 than in 2001.

Provision for Income Taxes

The effective tax rate increased to 34% in 2002 from 28% in 2001. The provision for income taxes in 2002 was $14.5 million, an increase of
$3.6 million from 2001. In 2001, the Company recorded a $4.0 million benefit from research and development credits related to the 1990
through 2000 tax years, which did not repeat in 2002.
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OFF-BALANCE SHEET FINANCING

The Company does not have any off-balance sheet financing, other than l isted in the liquidity an d capital resources section herein. All the
Company’s subsidiaries are included in the financial statements, and the Company does not have relationships with any special purpose entities.

MARKET RISKS

Foreign Currency Risk

The Company operates internationally, giving rise to exposure to market risks from changes in foreign exchange rates. From time to time,
the Company borrows in various currencies to reduce the level of net assets subject to changes in foreign exchange rates. In addition, the
Company purchases foreign exchange f orward and option contracts to hedge fi rm commitments, such as receivables and pa yables,
denominated in foreign currencies. The Company does not use the contracts for speculative or trading purposes. At November 30, 2003, the
Company had 27 foreign currency forward contracts expiring at various dates through May 2004, with an aggregate face value and fair value
of $9.4 million and $9.5 million, respectively. Such instruments are carried at fair value, with related adjustments recorded within other
income.

Debt Risk

The Company has variable-rate, short-term and long-term debt as well as fixed-rate, long-term debt. The fair value of the Company’s fixed-
rate debt is subject to changes in interest rates. The estimated fair value of the Company’s variable-rate debt approximates the carrying value
of the debt since the variable interest rates are market-based, and the Company believes such debt could be refinanced on materially similar
terms. The Company is subject to the availability of credit to support new requirements, to refinance amortizing long-term debt and to
refinance short-term debt.

As of November 30, 2003, the estimated fair value of notes payable by the Company totaling $25.0 million, with a fixed rate of 7.92%, was $27.1
million. The Company is required to repay these notes in annual installments of $8.3 million from 2004 to 2006, inclusive. As of November 30,
2003, the estimated fair value of notes payable by the Company totaling $50.0 million,with a fixed rate of 5.36%, was $50.4 million. The Company
is required to repay these notes in annual installments of $10.0 million from 2005 to 2009, inclusive. The Company had $7.2 million of variable-
rate industrial development bonds payable at a rate of 1.20% as of November 30, 2003, payable in 2016. The Company also had $8.5 million of
variable-rate industrial development bonds payable at a rate of 1.35% as of November 30, 2003, payable in 2021. As of November 30, 2003, the
Company borrowed $3.7 million under a revolving credit facility supported by the Revolver which perm its borrowings up to $100 million
through January, 2006. The average interest rate of such borrowings was 4.75% as of November 30, 2003.

CONTINGENCIES

The Company is one of numerous defendants in various asbestos-related personal injury lawsuits. These cases generally seek unspecified
damages for asbestos-related diseases based on alleged exposure to certain products previously manufactured by the Company and others,
and at this time the Company is generally not aware of the extent of injuries allegedly suffered by the individuals or the facts supporting the
claim that injuries were caused by the Company’s products. Based upon the information available to it at this time, the Company is not in a
position to evaluate its potential exposure, if any, as a result of such claims. Hence, no amounts have been accrued for loss contingencies
related to these lawsuits in accordance with SFAS No. 5,“Accounting for Contingencies.”The Company continues to vigorously defend all such
lawsuits. As of November 30, 2003, the Company was a defendant in asbestos-related cases involving 17,447 claimants, compared to 8,382
claimants as of November 30, 2002. The Company is not in a position to estimate the number of additional claims that may be filed against
it in the future. For the fiscal year ended November 30, 2003, there were new claims involving 9,279 claimants, dismissals and/or settlements
involving 211 claimants and judgments involving 3 claimants. Net costs and expenses incurred by the Company for the fiscal year ended
November 30, 2003 in connection with asbestos-related claims were less than $.6 million.

The Company is one of numerous defendants in various silica-related personal injury lawsuits. These cases generally seek unspecified
damages for silica-related diseases based on alleged exposure to certain products previously manufactured by the Company and others,and
at this time the Company is not aware of the extent of injuries allegedly suffered by the individuals or the facts supporting the claim that
injuries were caused by the Company’s products. Based upon the information available to it at this time, the Company is not in a position to
evaluate its potential exposure, if any, as a result of these claims.Hence, no amounts have been accrued for loss contingencies related to these
lawsuits in accordance with SFAS No. 5. The Company continues to vigorously defend all such lawsuits. As of November 30, 2003, the
Company was a defendan t in silica-related cases i nvolving 6,847 claimants, compared to 48 claimants as of November 30, 2002. The
Company is not in a position to estimate the number of additional claims that may be filed against it in the future. For the fiscal year ended
November 30, 2003, there were new claims involving 6,880 claimants, dismissals and/or settlements involving 81 claimants a nd no
judgments. Net costs and expenses incurred by the Company for the fiscal year ended November 30, 2003 in connection with silica-related
claims were about $.3 million.

In addition, certain other claims, suits and complaints that arise in the ordinary course of business, have been filed or are pending against
the Company. Management believes that these matters are either adequately reserved, covered by insurance, or would not have a material
effect on the Company’s financial position or its results of operations if disposed of unfavorably.

The Company is subject to federal, state and local la ws an d regulations concerning the en vironment and is currently participating in
administrative proceedings at several sites under these laws. While the Company finds it difficult to estimate with any certainty the total cost of
remediation at the several sites, on the basis of currently available information and reserves provided, the Company believes that the outcome of
such environmental regulatory proceedings will not have a material effect on the Company’s financial position or its results of operations.
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CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

The Company carried out an evaluation, under the supervision and with the pa rticipation of the Company’s management, including the
Company’s Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, of the effectiveness of the design and operation of the Company’s disclosure
controls and procedures as of November 30, 2003 pursuant to Exchange Act Rule 13a-14. Based upon that evaluation, the Chief Executive Officer
and Chief Financial Officer concluded that the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures are effective in timely alerting them to material
information relating to the Company (including its consolidated subsidiaries) required to be included in the Company’s periodic Securities and
Exchange Commission filings. No significant changes were made in the Company’s internal controls or in other factors that could significantly
affect these controls subsequent to November 30, 2003.

NEW ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS

The Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued FASB Interpretation (“FIN”) No. 46, “Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities” in
January 2003, and issued a revision in December 2003. FIN No. 46 clarifies the application of Accounting Research Bulletin No. 51,“Consolidated
Financ i al Statement s,” and address es consolid ation by business enterpris es of vari able interest entities. FIN No. 46 requires ex isting
unconsolidated variable interest entities to be consolidated by their primary beneficiaries if the entities do not effectively disperse risk among
the parties involved. FIN No. 46 also enhances the disclosure requirements related to variable interest entities. This statement is effective for the
Company for variable interest entities in the quarter ending May 31, 2004. The adoption of FIN No. 46 is not expected to have a material impact
on the Company’s consolidated financial statements.

In April 2003, the FASB issued SFAS No. 149,“Amendment of Statement 133 on Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities.” SFAS No. 149
amends and cl arifies financial accounting and r eporting for deriv ative instruments under SFAS No. 133, “Accounting for Derivative
Instruments and Hedging Activities.” SFAS No. 149 requires that contracts with comparable characteristics be accounted for similarly. In
particular, SFAS No. 149 (1) clarifies under what circumstances a contract with an initial ne t investment meets the characteristic of a
derivative discussed in paragraph 6(b) of SFAS No. 133, (2) clarifies when a derivative contains a financing component, (3) amends the
definition of an underlying to conform it to lang uage used in FIN No. 45, “Guarantor’s Accounting and Disclosure Requirements for
Guarantees, Including Indirect Guarantees of Indebtedness of Others,” and (4) amends certain other existing pronouncements. SFAS No. 149
will result in more consistent reporting of contracts as either derivatives or hybrid instruments. SFAS No. 149 is effective prospectively for
contracts entered into or modified after June 30, 2003, except in certain circumstances, and for hedging relationships designated after June
30, 2003. The adoption of SFAS No. 149 did not have a material impact on the Company’s consolidated financial statements.

On May 15, 2003, the FASB issued SFAS No. 150,“Accounting for Certain Financial Instruments with Characteristics of both Liabilities and
Equity,” which was effective May 31, 2003 for all new and modified financial instruments. SFAS No. 150 changes the accounting for certain
financial instruments that, under previous guidance, issuers could account for as equity. SFAS No. 150 requires that those instruments be
classified as liabilities (or assets in some circumstances). The adoption of SFAS No. 150 did not have a material impact on the Company’s
consolidated financial statements.

CAUTIONARY STATEMENT FOR PURPOSES OF THE “SAFE HARBOR” PROVISIONS OF
THE PRIVATE SECURITIES LITIGATION REFORM ACT OF 1995
Any of the statements contained in this Annual Report that refer to the Company’s estimated or anticipated future results are forward-
looking and reflect the Company’s current analysis of existing trends and information. Actual results may differ from current expectations
based on a number of factors affecting Ameron’s businesses, including competitive conditions and changing market conditions. In addition,
matters affecting the economy generally, including the state of economies worldwide, can affect the Company’s results. These forward-
looking statements represent the Company’s judgment only as of the date of this Annual Report. Since actual results could differ materially,
the reader is cautioned not to rely on these forward-looking statements. Moreover, the Company disclaims any intent or obligation to update
these forward-looking statements.
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Year ended November 30,

(Dollars in thousands, except per share data) 2003 2 0 0 2 2 0 0 1

Sales $ 600,495 $ 539,473 $ 551,396

Cost of sales (434,007) (397,590) (413,312)

Gross profit 166,488 141,883 138,084

Selling, general and administrative expenses (127,392) (105,898) (101,828)

Equity in earnings of joint venture 667 3,597 2,279

Other income, net 10,852 9,767 10,269

Income before interest and income taxes 50,615 49,349 48,804

Interest expense, net (6,645) (6,836) (10,213)

Income before income taxes 43,970 42,513 38,591

Provision for income taxes (14,070) (14,454) (10,850)

Net income $ 29,900 $ 28,059 $ 27,741

Net income per share (basic) $ 3.77 $ 3.61 $ 3.58

Net income per share (diluted) $ 3.67 $ 3.49 $ 3.45

Weighted-average shares (basic) 7,925,229 7,772,032 7,742,690

Weighted-average shares (diluted) 8,149,460 8,052,164 8,048,588

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME
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As of November 30,

(Dollars in thousands, except per share data) 2 0 0 3 2 0 0 2

Assets
Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents $ 20,390 $ 10,360

Receivables, less allowances of $ 8 , 1 6 8

in 2003 and $6,652 in 2002 1 5 5 , 6 2 9 1 3 1 , 2 8 3

Inventories 9 1 , 3 7 1 8 8 , 0 2 0

Deferred income ta xes 1 9 , 2 4 1 16,528

Prepaid expenses and other current assets 8,882 6,671

Total current assets 295,513 252,862

Investments in joint ventures

Equity method 13,064 12,940

Cost method 5,479 5,987

Property, plant and equipment

Land 37,787 35,730

Buildings 84,426 75,147

Machinery and equipment 283,123 267,607

Construction in progress 6,169 4,400

Total property, plant and equipment at cost 411,505 382,884

Accumulated depreciation (260,919) (237,642)

Total property, plant and equipment, net 150,586 145,242

Deferred income taxes 6,744 —

Intangible assets, net of accumulated amortization

of $9,738 in 2003 and $8,551 in 2002 13,526 13,013

Other assets 48,580 32,898

Total assets $ 533,492 $ 462,942

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
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As of November 30,

2003 2 0 0 2

Li abilities and Stockholders’ Equity
Current liabilities

Short-term borrowings $ — $ 1,009

Current portion of long-term debt 8,333 8,333

Trade payables 47,512 46,295

Accrued liabilities 53,091 45,994

Income taxes payable 9,568 2,026

Total current liabilities 118,504 103,657

Long-term debt, less current portion 86,044 102,823

Other long-term liabilities 72,832 44,636

Total liabilities 277,380 251,116

Commitments and contingencies

Stockholders’ equity

Common stock, par value $2.50 a share,

authorized 12,000,000 shares,

outstanding 8,214,563 shares in 2003 and

3,945,662 shares in 2002, net of treasury shares 27,186 13,198

Additional paid-in capital 16,443 23,950

Unearned restricted stock (1,481) (2,164)

Retained earnings 294,255 270,449

Accumulated other comprehensive loss (31,768) (44,948)

Treasury stock (2,659,810 shares in 2003 and 1,333,655 in 2002) (48,523) (48,659)

Total stockholders’ equity 256,112 211,826

Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity $ 533,492 $ 462,942
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Year ended November 30,

( In thous ands ) 2003 2002 2001

Net income $ 29,900 $ 28,059 $ 27,741

Foreign currency translation adjustment 14,847 7,182 95

Minimum pension liability adjustment, net of tax (2,399) (25,171) —

Comprehensive income (loss) from joint venture 732 15 (2,687)

Comprehensive income $ 43,080 $ 10,085 $ 25,149

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

Common Stock Accumulated
Unearned Other

Shares Additional Restricted Retained Comprehensive Treasury
( Dollars in thous ands ) Out standing Amount Paid - in Capital Stock Earnings Loss Stock Total

December 1, 2000 balance 3 , 8 6 9 , 3 5 7 $ 1 3 , 0 0 7 $ 1 7 , 8 5 7 $ — $ 2 2 4 , 6 2 0 $ ( 2 4 , 3 8 2 ) $ (48,672) $ 182,430

Net income — 2001 2 7 , 7 4 1 2 7 , 7 4 1

Exercise of stock options 3,650 10 120 130

Foreign currency translation adjustment 9 5 9 5

Comprehensive loss from joint venture (2,687) (2,687)

Cash dividends on common stock ( 4 , 9 5 5 ) ( 4 , 9 5 5 )

Treasury stock adjustment 13 13

Stock compensation expense 1,480 1,480

November 30, 2001 balance 3,873,007 13,017 19,457 — 247,406 (26,974) (48,659) 204,247

Net income — 2002 28,059 28,059

Exercise of stock options 32,655 81 1,146 1,227

Foreign currency translation adjustment 7 , 1 8 2 7 , 1 8 2

Minimum pension liability adjustment, net of tax (25,171) (25,171)

Comprehensive income from joint venture 15 15

Cash dividends on common stock ( 5 , 0 1 6 ) ( 5 , 0 1 6 )

Stock compensation expense 713 713

Issuance of restricted stock 40,000 100 2,634 (2,734) —

Amortization of restricted stock 570 570

November 30, 2002 balance 3,945,662 13,198 23,950 (2,164) 270,449 (44,948) (48,659) 211,826

Net income — 2003 29,900 29,900
Stock dividends 3,945,662 13,224 (13,224) —
Exercise of stock options 323,239 764 5,722 136 6,622
Foreign currency translation adjustment 14,847 14,847
Minimum pension liability adjustment, net of tax (2,399) (2,399)
Comprehensive income from joint venture 732 732
Cash dividends on common stock (6,094) (6,094)
Stock compensation expense (5) (5)
Amortization of restricted stock 683 683

November 30, 2003 balance 8 , 2 1 4 , 5 6 3 $ 2 7 , 1 8 6 $ 1 6 , 4 4 3 $ ( 1 , 4 8 1 ) $ 2 9 4 , 2 5 5 $ ( 3 1 , 7 6 8 ) $ ( 4 8 , 5 2 3 ) $ 2 5 6 , 1 1 2

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
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Year ended November 30,

(In thousands) 2003 2 0 0 2 2 0 0 1

Operating Activities
Net income $29,900 $28,059 $27,741
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net

cash provided by operating activities:
Depreciation 18,093 18,032 17,820
Amortization 278 540 813
(Benefit) provision for deferred income taxes (4,654) 5,960 8,865
Net earnings and distributions from joint ventures 609 (132) 306
(Gain) loss from sale of investment, property,

plant and equipment (2,385) (71) 56
Stock compensation expense 678 1,283 1,480
Other, net 401 — —

Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Receivables (16,457) 8,194 3,905
Inventories 125 6,249 (10,312)
Prepaid expenses and other current assets (1,973) 105 (352)
Other assets (14,113) (1,635) (8,103)
Trade payables (1,343) (2,147) 5,573
Accrued liabilities and income taxes payable 12,963 (3,134) (22,029)
Other long-term liabilities 21,104 (6,669) 1,969

Net cash provided by operating activities 43,226 54,634 27,732

Investing Activities
Proceeds from sale of investment, property, plant and equipment 3,224 504 867
Additions to property, plant and equipment (17,107) (14,514) (19,297)

Net cash used in investing activities (13,883) (14,010) (18,430)

Financ ing Activities
Net change in short-term borrowings (1,752) (3,298) (954)
Issuance of debt 61,416 4,123 11,808
Repayment of debt (78,456) (38,918) (15,492)
Debt issuance costs (1,581) — —
Dividends on common stock (6,094) (5,016) (4,955)
Issuance of common stock 6,486 1,227 130
Change in treasury stock 136 — 13

Net cash used in financing activities (19,845) (41,882) (9,450)

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash
and cash equivalents 532 303 (51)

Net change in cash and cash equivalents 10,030 (955) (199)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 10,360 11,315 11,514

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year $20,390 $10,360 $11,315

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Principles of Consolidation
The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of
Ameron International Corporation and all wholly - owned
subsidi aries (“Ameron” or the “Company” ) . All materi al
intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated.

Reclassifications
Certain prior year balances have been reclassified to conform with
the current year presentation.

Use of Estimates
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally
accepted accounting principles requires management to make certain
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets
and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities and
the reported amounts of revenues and expenses. Significant estimates
include revenue and costs recorded under percentage of completion
accounting, assumptions related to benef it plans, goodwill , and
res erves assoc i ated with management incentives, receivables,
inventories, income taxes, self insurance and environmental and legal
contingencies. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

Revenue Recognition
Revenue for the Perform ance Coatings & Finishes, Fiberglass -
Composite Pipe and Infrastructure Products segments is
recognized when risk of ownership and title pass, primarily at the
time goods are shipped, provided that an agreement exists between
the customer and the Company, the price is fixed or determinable
and collection is reasonably assured. In limited circumstances
within the Perform ance Coatings & Finishes Group, revenue
recognition associated with shipment of coatings for marine dry
dockings is delayed until product returns are processed. Revenue is
recognized for the Water Transmission Group primarily under the
percentage-of-completion method, typically based on completed
units of production , since products manufactured under
enforceable and binding construction contracts typically are
designed for specific applications, are not interchangeable between
projects, and are not manufactured for stock. In some cases, if
products are manufactured for stock or are not related to specific
construction contract s, revenue is recogni zed under the same
criteria used by the other three segmen ts. Revenue under the
percentage-of-completion method is subject to a greater level of
estimation, which affects the timing of revenue recognition, costs
and profits. Estimates are reviewed on a consistent basis and are
adjusted periodically to reflect current expectations.

Research and Development Costs
Research and development costs, which relate primarily to the
development, design and testi ng of products, are expensed as
incurred. Such costs, which are included in selling, general and
administrative expenses, were approximately $5,653,000 in 2003,
$4,356,000 in 2002, and $5,550,000 in 2001.

Environmental Clean-up Costs
The Company expenses environmental clean-up costs related to
existing conditions resulting from past or current operations. The
Company determines its li ability on a site - by - site basis and
records a li ability at the time when ass essments and / or
remediation are probable and can be reasonably estimated.

Income Taxes

Deferred income tax ass ets and li abilities are computed for
differences between the financial statement and income tax bases
of assets and lia bilities. Such defer red inco me t ax asset and
liability computations are based on enacted tax laws and rates
applicable t o periods in wh ich the differences are expected to
reverse. Valuation allowances are established to reduce deferred
income tax assets to the amounts expected to be realized.

Net Income Per Share
Basic net income per share is computed on the basis of the weighted
average number of common shares outstanding during the periods
presented. Diluted net income per share is computed on the basis of
the weighted average number of common shares outstanding plus
the effect of outstanding stock options and restricted stock, using
the treasury stock method.

Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash equivalents represent liquid investments with maturities of
three months or less when purchased.

Inventory Valuation
Inventories are stated at the l ower of cost or market with cost
determined principally on the first-in, first-out (FIFO) method.
Certain steel inventories used by the Water Transmission Group
are valued using the last-in, first-out (LIFO) method. Reserves are
established for excess, obsolete and rework inventories based on
age, estimates of salability and forecasted future demand.

Joint Ventures
Investments in unconsolidated joint ventures or affiliates (“joint
ventures”) over which t he Company has significant influence are
accounted for under the equity method of accounting, whereby the
investment is carried at the cost of acquisition, plus the Company’s
equity in undistributed earnings or loss es since acquisition .
Investments in joint ventures over which t he Company does not
have the ability t o exert signific ant influence over the in vestee’s
operating and financing activities are accounted for under the cost
method of accounting. The Company’s investment in TAMCO is
accounted for under the equity method. Investments in Ameron
Saudi Arabia, Ltd., Bondstrand, Ltd. and Oasis-Ameron, Ltd. are
accounted for under the cost method due to management’s current
assessment of the Company’s influence over these joint ventures.

Property, Plant and Equipment
Items capitali zed as property, plant and equipment, including
improvements to existing facilities, are recorded at cost. Construction
in progress represents capital expenditures incurred for assets not yet
placed in service. Capitalized interest was not material for the periods
presented.

Deprec i ation is computed princ ipally using the straight - line
method based on estimated useful lives of the assets. Leasehold
improvements are amortized over the shorter of the life of the
improvement or the term of the lease. Useful lives are as follows:

Useful Lives in Years

Buildings 10-40
Machinery and equipment

Autos, trucks and trailers 2-15
Cranes and tractors 7-10
Manufacturing equipment 3-15
Other 2-20

NOTE 1
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Goodwill and Intangible Assets

Intangible assets are amortized on a straight-line basis over periods
ranging from three to 15 years.

The c ost of an acquired busine ss is allocated to th e net assets
acquired based on the estimated fair values at the date of acquisition.
The excess of the cost of an acquired business over the aggregate fair
value is recorded as goodwill. Goodwill is not amortized, but instead
tested for impairment at least annu ally. Such tests require
managment to make estimates about future cash flows and othe r
factors to determine the fair value of the respective assets. Prior to
2003, goodwill was amortized using the straigh t-line method over
periods ranging up to 40 years.

The Company reviews the recoverability of intangible and other
long-lived assets for impairmen t whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying value of such assets may
not be recoverable. If the estimated future, undiscounted cash flows
from the use of an asset are less than its carrying value, a write-
down is recorded to reduce the related asset to estimated fair value.

Self Insurance
The Company typically utilizes third par ty insurance subject to
varying retention levels or self insurance. The Company is self
insured for a portion of the loss es and li abilities prim arily
assoc i ated with workers’ compens ation claims and general ,
product and vehicle liability. Losses are accrued based upon the
Company’s estimates of the aggregate liability for claims incurred
using histo rical e xperience and cer tain ac tuarial assumptions
followed in the insurance industry. The estimate of self insurance
liability includes an estimate of incurred but not reported claims,
based on data compiled from historical experience.

Foreign Currency Translation
The funct ional cur rencies for the Company’s foreign operations
are th e applicable l ocal cur rencies. The tr anslation from th e
applicable f oreign currencies to U.S. dollars i s per formed for
balance sheet accounts using cur rent exchange rates in effect at
the balance s heet date and for revenue and expense accounts
using a weig hted-average exchange rate during the peri od. The
resulting transl ation adjustments are recorded in ac cumulated
other comprehensive loss. The Company advances funds to
certain foreign subsidiaries that are not expected to be repaid in
the foreseeable future. Translation adjustments arising from these
advances are also included in accumulated other comprehensive
loss. Gains or losses resulting from foreign currency transactions
are included in other income.

Derivative Financial Instruments and Risk Management
The Company operates internationally, giving rise to exposure to
market risks from changes in foreign exchange rates. Derivative
financial instruments, primarily foreign exchange contracts, are
used by the Company to reduce those risks. The Company does
not hold or issue financial or derivative financial instruments for
trading or s peculative purposes. As of November 30, 2003 and
2002 the Company had foreign currency forward contracts with
an aggregate face value of approx im ately $9,367,000 and
$6,623,000, respectively.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments
The fair value of financial instruments, other than long-term debt,
approximates the carrying value because of the short-term nature
of such instruments.

Concentration of Credit Risk
Financial in struments tha t subject the Co mpany to credit r isk
consist primarily of cash equivalents, trade accounts receivable, and
forward foreign exchange contracts. Credit risk with respect to trade
accounts receivable is generally distributed over a large number of
entities comprising the Company’s customer base and is
geographically dispersed. The Company performs ongoing credit
evaluations of its customers, maintains an allowance for potential
credit losses and, in certain instances, maintains credit insurance.
The Company actively evalu ates the credit worthiness of the
financial institutions with which it conducts business.

Stock-Based Compensation
The Company recognizes compensation expense associated with
stock - bas ed awards under the recognition and measurement
princ iples of Accounting Princ iples Board (“A P B”) No. 2 5 ,
“Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees” , and related
interpretations. Accordingly, compensation cost is measured by the
excess of the quoted market price of the stock over the option price on
the grant date. No compensation expense associated with a stock-
based award is recorded if the stock option exercise price equals the
market price of the Company’s stock on the date of the grant.

In December 2002, the Financ i al Accounting Stand ards Board
( “FASB”) issued Statement of Financ i al Accounting Stand ards
( “SFAS”) No. 1 4 8 , “Accounting for Stock - Bas ed Compens ation -
Transition and Disclosures.” SFAS No. 148 amends SFAS No. 123,
“Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation,”and provides alternative
methods of transition for a voluntary change to the fair-value-based
method of accounting for stock-based employee compensation. SFAS
No. 148 also amends the disclosure requirements of SFAS No. 123 to
include pro forma presentation of net income and earnings per share
as if the Company recorded compensation expense based on the fair
value of stock - bas ed awards. The Company has adopted the
disclosure-only provisions of SFAS No. 123. (See Note 12.)

Accounting Changes
Effective December 1, 2002, the Company adopted SFAS No. 142,
“Goodwill and Othe r Intangible Assets.” In accordance with SFAS
No. 142, goodwill is no lon ger amortized, but ins tead tested for
impairment at least annually. Prior to 2003, goodwill was amortized
using the straight-line method over its estimated period of benefit.

Effective December 1, 2002, the Company adopted SFAS No. 143,
“Accounting for Ass et Retirement Obligations.” The stand ard
applies to legal obligations associated with the retirement of long-
lived ass ets that result from the acquisition , construction ,
development and/or normal use of the assets. The statement
requires that the fair value of the liability for an asset retirement
obligation be recorded when incurred if a reasonable estimate of
fair value can be made. The fair value of the liability is added to
the carrying amount of the associated asset and this ad ditional
carrying amount is depreciated over the life of the asset. If the
liability is settled for an amount other than the recorded balance,
either a gain or loss will be recognized at settlement. The adoption
of SFAS No. 143 did not have a material impact on the Company’s
consolidated financial statements.
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Effective December 1, 2002, the Company adopted SFAS No. 144,
“Impairment o r Disposal of Long-Lived Assets.” SFAS No. 144
addresses financial accounting and reporting for the impairment
or dispos al of long - lived ass et s, provides guid ance on
implementation issues related to SFAS No. 121,“Accounting for the
Impairment of Long-Lived Assets and for Long-Lived Assets to be
Disposed Of,” and addresses the accounting for a segment of a
business accounted for as a discontinued operation. The adoption
of SFAS No. 144 did not have a material impact on the Company’s
consolidated financial statements.

Effective December 1, 2002, the Company adopted SFAS No. 145,
“Rescission of FASB Statements No. 4, 44 and 64, Amendment of
FASB Statement No. 13, and Technical Corrections.” SFAS No. 145
rescinds both S FAS No. 4, “Reporting Gains a nd Losses from
Extinguishment of Debt” and SFAS No. 64, “Extinguishments of
Debt Made to Satisfy Sinking-Fund Requirements.” In so doing,
SFAS No. 145 eliminates the requirement that gains and losses
from the extinguishment of debt be aggregated, and, if material,
classified as an extraordinary item, net of the related income tax
effect, unless the cri teria in APB Opinion No. 30, “Reporting the
Results of Operations-Reporting th e Effects of Disposal of a
Segment of a Business, and Ex traordinary, Unusu al and
Infrequently Occurring Events and Transactions” are met. SFAS
No. 145 amends SFAS No. 13, “Accounting for Leases,” to require
that certain lease modifications that have economic effects similar
to sale-leaseback transactions are acc ounted for in the same
manner as sale-leaseback transactions. The adoption of SFAS No.
145 did not have a material impact on the Company’s consolidated
financial statements.

The Company adopted SFAS No. 1 4 6 , “Accounting for Ex it or
Disposal Activities,” during the quarter ended February 28, 2003.
SFAS No. 146 address es issues regarding the recognition ,
measurement and reporting of costs that are associated with exit
and disposal activities, including restructuring a ctivities t hat are
currently accounted for pursuant to the guidance that the Emerging
Issues Task Force has set forth in Issue No. 9 4 - 3 , “Li ability
Recognition for Certain Employee Termination Benefits and Other
Costs to Exit an Activity (incl uding Certain Costs Incurred in a
Restructuring).” The provisions of SFAS No. 146 are effective for exit
or disposal activities that are initiated after December 31, 2002. The
adoption of SFAS No. 146 did not have a material impact on the
Company’s consolidated financial statements.

In November 2002, the FASB issued FASB Interpretation (“FIN”) No.
4 5 , “Gu arantor’s Accounting and Dis closure Requirements for
Gu arantees, Including Indirect Gu arantees of Indebtedness of
Others.” FIN No. 45 elaborates on the disclosures to be made by a
guarantor about its obligations under certain guarantees. FIN No. 45
also clarif ies that a gu arantor is required to recogni ze, at the
inception of a guarantee, a liability for the fair value of the obligation
undertaken in issuing the gu arantee. FIN No. 45 spec if ically
identifies certain obligations that are excluded from the provisions
related to recogni z ing a li ability at inception ; however, thes e
guarantees are subject to the disclosure requirements of FIN No. 45.
The initial recognition and measurement provisions of FIN No. 45
are applicable on a prospective basis to gu arantees issued or
modified after Decem ber 31, 2002. The Company’s disclosure of
guarantees is incl uded in N ote 7, herein. The ado ption o f the
recognition and measurement provisions of FIN No. 45 did not have
a materi al impact on the Company’s consolid ated financ i al
statements.

New Accounting Pronouncements

FIN No. 46, “Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities” was issued
in January 2003 and revised in December 2003. FIN clarifies the
application of Accounting Research Bulletin No. 51, “Consolidated
Financial Statements,” and addresses consolidation b y business
enterprises of variable interest entities. FIN No. 46 requires existing
unconsolidated variable interest entities to be consolidated by their
primary beneficiaries if the entities do not effectively disperse risk
among the parties involved. FIN No. 46 also enhances the disclosure
requirements related to variable interest entities. This statement is
effective for the Company for variable interest entities in the quarter
ending May 31, 2004. The adoption of FIN No. 46 is not expected to
have a material impact on the Com pany’s consolidated financial
statements.

In April 2003, the FASB issued SFAS No. 149, “Amendment of
Statement 133 on Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities.”
SFAS No. 149 amends and cl arifies financia l accounting and
reporting for derivative instruments under SFAS No. 1 3 3 ,
“Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities.”
SFAS No. 149 requires that contracts with comparable
characteristics be accounted for similarly. In particular, SFAS No.
149 (1) clarifies under what circumstances a co ntract with an
initial ne t investment meets the c haracteristic of a derivative
discussed in paragraph 6(b) of Statement No. 133, (2) clarifies
when a d erivative contains a financi ng component, (3) amends
the definition of an underlying to conform it to language used in
FIN No. 45,“Guarantor’s Accounting and Disclosure Requirements
for Guarantees, Including Indirect Guarantees of Indebtedness of
Others,” and (4) amends cer tain other existing pronouncements.
SFAS No. 149 will result in more consistent reporting of contracts
as ei ther der ivatives or hybrid instr uments. SFAS No. 149 is
effective prospectively for contracts entered into or modified after
June 30, 2003, except in certain circumstances, and for hedging
relationships designated after June 30, 2003. The adoption of SFAS
No. 149 did not have a materi al impact on the Company’s
consolidated financial statements.

On May 15, 2003, the FASB issued SFAS No. 150, “Accounting for
Certain Financ i al Instruments with Characteristics of both
Liabilities and Equity,” which was effective May 31, 2003 for all
new and modified financia l instruments. SFAS No. 150 changes
the accounting for certain financ i al instruments that, under
previous guidance, issuers could account for as equity. SFAS No.
150 requires that those instruments be classified as liabilities (or
assets in some circumstances). The adoption of SFAS No. 150 did
not have a materi al impact on the Company’s consolid ated
financial statements.

Supplemental Cash Flow Information
(In thousands) 2003 2002 2001

Interest paid $ 4,997 $ 6,996 $ 10,810

Income taxes paid 10,268 8,457 15,939
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OTHER INCOME

Other income was as follows for the years ended November 30:

(In thousands) 2003 2002 2001

Income from joint ventures-
cost method $ 6,311 $ 5,900 $ 6,250

Royalties, fees and other income 2,866 2,962 4,437
Gain on sale of investment 2,477 — —
Foreign currency loss (269) (539) (927)
Gain (loss) on sale of property,

plant and equipment (92) 71 (56)
Miscellaneous (441) 1,373 565

$10,852 $ 9,767 $10,269

RECEIVABLES

Receivables were as follows at November 30:

(In thousands) 2003 2002

Trade $153,041 $127,874
Joint ventures 2,461 2,653
Other 8,295 7,408
Allowances (8,168) (6,652)

$155,629 $131,283

The Co mpany's provision f or bad debts was $3,071,000 in 2003,
$1,300,000 in 2002, and $1,738,000 in 2001. Trade receivables
included unbilled receivables related to the percentage-of-completion
method of revenue recognition of $25,371,000 and $11,928,000 at
November 30, 2003 and 2002, respectively.

INVENTORIES

Inventories were as follows at November 30:

(In thousands) 2003 2002

Finished products $ 52,821 $ 52,359
Materials and supplies 22,037 20,373
Products in process 16,513 15,288

$ 91,371 $ 88,020

Certain steel inventories are valued using the last - in , f irst - out
method. These items comprised 13.3% and 2.7% of consolidated
inventories at November 30, 2003 and 2002, respectively. If such
inventories had been valued using the first-in, first-out method, total
inventories would h ave increased by $630,000 and $1,164,000 at
November 30, 2003 and 2002, respectively.

JOINT VENTURES

Investments, advances and equity in undistributed earnings of
joint ventures were as follows at November 30:

(In thousands) 2003 2002

Investment—equity method $ 13,064 $ 12,940
Investments—cost method 5,479 5,987

$ 18,543 $ 18,927

The Company’s ownership of joint ventures is summarized below:
Ownership

Products             Joint Ventures Interest

Coatings Oasis-Ameron, Ltd. 40%
Fiberglass pipe Bondstrand, Ltd. 40%
Concrete pipe Ameron Saudi Arabia, Ltd. 30%
Steel products TAMCO 50%

Investments in jo int ventures and the amount of undistributed
earnings were as follows:

Fiberglass Concrete Steel
(In thousands) Coatings Pipe Pipe Products Total
Cost $ 1,695 $ 3,784 $ — $ 8,482 $ 13,961
Comprehensive loss

from joint venture — — — (1,941) (1,941)
Accumulated equity in

undistributed earnings,
net of reserves — — — 6,523 6 , 5 2 3

Investment,
November 30, 2003 $ 1,695 $ 3,784 $ — $13,064 $ 18,543

Dividends received
in 2003 $ 636 $ 3,042 $ 2,633 $ 1,276 $ 7,587

Cost $ 2,203 $ 3,784 $ — $ 8,482 $ 14,469
Comprehensive loss

from joint venture — — — (2,672) (2,672)
Accumulated equity in

undistributed earnings,
net of reserves — — — 7,130 7,130

Investment,
November 30, 2002 $ 2 , 2 0 3 $ 3 , 7 8 4 $ — $12,940 $ 18,927

Dividends received 
in 2002 $ 327 $ 2,263 $ 3,310 $ 3,465 $ 9,365

In 2003, the Company sold its 25% ownership of Amercoat
Mexicana for a pretax gain of $2,477,000. Income from Amercoat
Mexicana totaled $312,000, $327,000 and $535,000 in the years
ended November 30, 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively.

The Company provides for income taxes on the undistr ibuted
earnings of its joint ventures to the extent such earn ings are
included in the consolidated statements of income.

The investment in TA MCO was recorded bas ed on audited
f inanc i al statements as of November 30, 2 0 0 3 . Condens ed
financial data of TAMCO, an investment which is accounted for
under the equity method, were as follows:

Financial Condition
(In thousands) 2003 2002

Current assets $ 39,412 $ 39,344
Noncurrent assets 30,862 36,943

$ 70,274 $ 76,287

Current liabilities $ 17,598 $ 20,351
Noncurrent liabilities 10,808 14,312
Stockholders’ equity 41,868 41,624

$ 70,274 $ 76,287

Results of Operations
(In thousands) 2003 2002 2001

Net sales $163,277 $ 130,893 $ 120,822
Gross profit 8,658 21,924 20,142
Net income 1,333 6,745 4,907

In 2001, TAMCO entered into a swap agreement intended to hedge
expected cash flows related to the purchase of natural gas used in its
manufacturing p rocess. The Company recognized $1,941,000 and
$2,672,000 in accumulated other comprehensive loss at November 30,
2003 and 2002, respectively, which represents its proportionate share
of amounts recognized by TAMCO to record the fair value of the swap
agreement.

Sales to joint ventures totaled $4,004,000 in 2003, $4,848,000 in 2002,
and $7,747,000 in 2001.

NOTE 5

NOTE 4

NOTE 3

NOTE 2
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OTHER ASSETS

Other assets were as follows at November 30:

( In thous ands ) 2 0 0 3 2 0 0 2

Cash surrender value of insurance policies $ 29,312 $26,415
Pension related assets 15,134 5,515
Other 4,134 968

$ 48,580 $32,898

ACCRUED LIABILITIES

Accrued liabilities were as follows at November 30:
(In thousands) 2003 2002

Compensation and benefits $ 19,909 $18,907
Self insurance res erves 14,988 14,222
Reserves for pending claims and litigation 4,547 1,051
Product warranties and guarantees 3,770 4,257
Taxes (other than income taxes) 3,196 2,450
Interest 1,937 826
Commissions and royalties 1,490 1,250
Advances from customers 1,254 464
Other 2,000 2,567

$ 53,091 $45,994

The Company’s product warranty accrual reflects management’s
estimate of probable liability associated with product warranties.
Management establishes product warranty accruals based on
historical experience and other currently available information.
Changes in the product warranty accrual for the year ended
November 30, 2003 were as follows (in thousands):

Balance, beginning of period $4,257

Payments made (3,158)

Change in liability for warranties
issued during the period 2,671

Balance, end of period $3,770

OTHER LONG-TERM LIABILITIES

Other long-term liabilities were as follows at November 30:

( In thous ands ) 2 0 0 3 2 0 0 2

Accrued pension cost $ 63,320 $ 39,128
Compensation and benefits 5,289 4,422
Deferred income tax liabilities 3,931 662
Other 292 424

$ 72,832 $ 44,636

INCOME TAXES

The provision for income taxes included the following for the
years ended November 30:

(In thousands) 2003 2002 2001

Current
Federal $11,139 $ 4,587 $ 67
Foreign 5,445 3,508 2,402
State 2,140 399 (484)

18,724 8,494 1,985
Deferred

Federal (4,015) 5,104 7,436
Foreign 20 (99) 36
State (659) 955 1,393

(4,654) 5,960 8,865

$14,070 $ 14,454 $ 10,850

Deferred income tax assets and (liabilities) consisted of the following
as of November 30:

(In thousands) 2003 2002

Noncurrent deferred income taxes
Net operating loss carry-overs $ 13,035 $ 11,293
Prepaid pension benefit costs 13,251 10,415
Employee benefits 5,834 4,382
Investments 3,280 3,220
Valuation allowances (14,035) (12,101)
Property, plant and equipment (17,412) (17,572)
Other (1,140) (299)

Net noncurrent deferred income
tax assets (liabilities) 2,813 (662)

Current deferred income taxes
Self-insurance/claims reserves 11,558 10,377
Inventories 4,667 4,784
Employee benefits 3,037 2,554
Accounts receivable 1,921 1,722
Valuation allowances (1,713) (1,359)
Other (229) (1,550)

Net current deferred income tax assets 19,241 16,528
Net deferred income tax assets $ 22,054 $ 15,866

As of November 30, 2003, the Company had foreign net operating loss
carry-overs of approximately $38,600,000. The valuation allowance
for deferred income tax assets, which relates primarily to foreign net
operating loss carry-overs and net deductible temporary differences,
increased by $2,288,000 in 2003 and by $4,092,000 in 2002.

NOTE 9

NOTE 8

NOTE 7

NOTE 6
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The tax provision represents effective tax rates of 32%, 34% and
28% of income before income taxes for the years ended November
30, 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively. A reconciliation of income
taxes provided at the effective income tax rate and the am ount
computed at the federal statutory income tax rate of 35% is as
follows for the years ended November 30:
(In thousands) 2003 2002 2001

Domestic pretax income $ 25,799 $ 37,708 $ 39,146
Foreign pretax income 18,171 4,805 (555)

$ 43,970 $ 42,513 $ 38,591

Taxes at federal statutory rate $ 15,390 $ 14,880 $ 13,507
State taxes (net of federal tax benefit) 980 1,335 1,701
Foreign losses with no federal benefit 317 3,306 3,669
Foreign income taxed at lower rates (2,089) (2,414) (1,575)
Foreign tax credit (1,485) (1,432) (2,004)
Foreign branch and withholding taxes 1,114 833 999
Equity in earnings of

joint venture (187) (996) (638)
Percentage depletion (375) (364) ( 3 8 2 )
Research and development credits (584) (598) (4,008)
Other, net 989 (96) (419)

$ 14,070 $ 14,454 $ 10,850

In 2001, the U.S. Internal Revenue Service (“IRS”) completed the
examination of the Company’s 1993  through 1995 federal income
tax returns and issued an assessment. The Company agreed with
the IRS regarding the assessment. The assessment was not material
to the Company’s financial statements and was paid in 2002.

The 1996 thr ough 1998 federal income tax r eturns are cur rently
under examination by the IRS. No assessments have been issued to
date.Although it cannot predict with certainty the ultimate outcome
of this ex amination , the Company believes it has adequ ately
provided for any potential liabilities that may result.

In 2001, the Company filed federal and state income tax claims for
research and development credits for tax years 1990 through 2000.
The claims are currently under IRS examination.

Appropriate U.S. and foreign income taxes have been provided for
earnings of foreign subsidiary companies that ar e expected to be
remitted in the near future. The cumulative amount of undistributed
earnings of foreign subsidiaries that Ameron intends to permanently
invest and up on which no de ferred U.S. income taxes have bee n
provided is $ 65,756,000 at November 30, 2003. The additional U.S.
income tax on the unremitted foreign earnings, if repatriated, would
be offset in whole or in part by foreign tax credits.

DEBT

Short - term borrowings consisted of loans payable under bank
credit lines. There were no short-term borrowings outstanding at
November 30, 2003 and $1,009,000 as of November 30, 2002. At
November 30, 2003, the equivalent of $11,775,000 was available
under these short-term credit lines. The effective interest rate on the
outstanding loans at November 30, 2002 was 5.90%.

Domestically, as of November 30, 2003, the Company maintained a
$100,000,000 revolving credit facility with six banks (the “Revolver”).
At November 30, 2003, $18,215,000 was utilized for standby letters of
c redit under the Revolver; therefore, $81,785,000 was available.
Under the Revolver, the Company may, at its option, borrow at floating
interest rates based on specified margins over money market rates, at
anytime until January 2006, when all borrowings under the Revolver
must be repaid.

Foreign subsidi aries also maintain uns ecured revolving credit
facilities and short-term facilities with banks. Foreign subsidiaries
may borrow in various curr encies, at interest rates based upon
specified margins over money market ra tes. The equiv alent of
$5,000,000 may be borrowed at any time through March 2005 under
one fac ility. Other short - term lines permit borrowings up to
$9,300,000. At November 30, 2003, $3,677,000 was borrowed under
these facilities.

Borrowings under certain bank facilities by the Company and its
foreign subsidiaries are supported by the Revolver and, accordingly,
have been classified as long-term debt and are considered payable
when the Revolver is due.

Long-term debt consisted of the following as of November 30:

(In thousands) 2003 2002

Fixed-rate notes:
7.92%, payable in annual principal
installments of $8,333 $ 25,000 $ 33,333
5.36%, payable in annual principal
installments of $10,000 50,000 —

Variable-rate industrial development bonds,
payable in 2016 
(1.20% at November 30, 2003) 7,200 7,200
payable in 2021 
(1.35% at November 30, 2003) 8,500 8,500

Variable-rate bank
revolving credit facilities - domestic — 58,000

Variable-rate bank
revolving credit facilities - foreign
(4.75% at November 30, 2003) 3,677 4,123

94,377 111,156
Less current portion (8,333) (8,333)

$ 86,044 $102,823

Future maturities of long-term debt were as follows as of November
30, 2003:

Years ending
(In thousands) November 30, Amount

2004 $ 8,333
2005 18,333
2006 22,011
2007 10,000
2008 10,000

Thereafter 25,700

$ 94,377

The lending agreements contain various restrictive covenant s,
including t he requirement to maintain specified amounts of net
worth and restrictions on cash dividends, borrowings, liens,
investments and guarantees, and meet ce rtain fin ancial ratios.
Under the mos t restrictive provisions of the Com pany’s lending
agreements, approximately $20,091,000 of retained earnings were
not restricted as of November 30, 2003, as to the declaration of cash
dividends or the r epurchase of Company stock. At November 30,
2003, the Company was in compliance with all covenants.

NOTE 10
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The Revolver, the 5.36% term notes and the 7.92% term notes are
collateralized by substantially all of the Company’s assets. The
industrial revenue bonds are supported by standby le tters of
credit that are issued under the Revolver. Certain note agreements
contain provisions regarding the Company’s ability to grant
s ecurity interests or liens in assoc i ation with other debt
instruments. If the Company grants such a security interest or
lien, then such notes will be collateralized equally and ratably as
long as such other debt shall be collateralized.

Interest income and expense were as follows for the years ended
November 30:

(In thousands) 2003 2002 2001

Interest expense $ 6,793 $ 7,024 $ 10,471
Interest income (148) (188) (258)
Interest expense, net $ 6,645 $ 6,836 $ 10,213

The following dis closure of the estim ated fair value of the
Company’s debt is made in accordance with the requirements of
SFAS 107,“Disclosures about Fair Value of Financial Instruments.”
The estimated fair-value amounts have been determined by the
Company using available market info rmation and ap propriate
valuation methodologies. Considerable judgment is r equired to
develop the est imated fai r value, thus th e esti mates provided
herein are not necessarily indicative of the amounts that could be
realized in a current market exchange.

Carrying Fair
( In thous ands ) Amount Value

November 30, 2 0 0 3
Fi xed - rate, long - term debt $ 7 5 , 0 0 0 $ 7 7 , 4 5 3
Vari able - rate, long - term debt 1 9 , 3 7 7 1 9 , 3 7 7

November 30, 2 0 0 2
Short - term borrowings 1 , 0 0 9 1 , 0 0 9
Fi xed - rate, long - term debt 3 3 , 3 3 3 3 5 , 5 7 7
Vari able - rate, long - term debt 7 7 , 8 2 3 7 7 , 8 2 3

The esti mated fair val ue of the Co mpany’s variable-rate debt
approximates the carr ying value of the debt sin ce the variable
interest rates are market-based, and the Company believes such
debt could be ref inanced on materi ally similar terms. The
estimated fair value of the Company’s fixed-rate, long-term debt is
based on U.S. government notes at November 30, 2003 plus an
estimated spread for simi lar securities with simi lar remaining
maturities.

LEASE COMMITMENTS

The Company leas es fac ilities and equipment under non -
cancelable operating leas es. Rental ex pense under long - term
operating leas es of real property, vehicles and other equipment
was $4,773,000 in 2003, $5,071,000 in 2002 and $5,687,000 in
2 0 0 1 . Future rental commitments were as follows as of
November 30, 2 0 0 3 :

Years ending
( In thous ands ) November 30, Amount

2004 $ 4,694
2005 3,901
2006 2,484
2007 2,088
2008 2,059

Thereafter 21,737
$ 36,963

Future rental commitments for leases are not reduced by minimum
non-cancelable sublease rentals aggregating $2,741,000 at November
30, 2003.

INCENTIVE STOCK COMPENSATION PLANS

The Company has adopted the disclosure only provisions of SFAS
No. 123,“Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation.”

In 2001, the 2001 Stock Incentive Plan (“2001 Plan”) was approved
by the stockholders of the Company. The 2001 Plan serves as the
successor to both the 1992 Incentive Stock Compensation Plan and
the 1994 Non-Employee Director Stock Option Plan and supercedes
those plans.Under the terms of the 2001 Plan, 380,000 new shares of
common stock were made available for awards both to non -
employee directors and to key employees of the Company. Awards to
key employees may include, but are not limited to, stock options,
restricted stock, performance shares and performance unit awards;
however, no more than 80,000 of such shares were made available
for issu ance as either restricted stock , perform ance stock ,
performance shares or performance units. Restrictions may limit
the sale, transfer, voting rig hts and dividends on these shares. At
November 30, 2003, 60,000 restricted shares were outstanding.With
respect to non - employee directors, on the first business day
following the date of the annual meeting of stockholders of the
Company, each non - employee director receives an option to
purchase 3,000 shares of common stock.

At November 30, 2003, the Company had 838,119 non-qualified
stock options outstanding with terms of from 10 to 15 years from
the date of grant, and 234,000 shares available for future grants
under the 2001 plan. The exercise price for such outstanding stock
options is generally the fair market value of the Company’s stock
on the date of the original grant. Such options vest in equal annual
installments o ver four years. Certain options have a cashless
exercise feature

SFAS No. 123 requires pro forma inform ation regarding net
income and earnings per share as if compensation cost for stock
options had be en determined based on th e fair v alue of the
options on the grant date. The Company estimates the fair value of
stock options at the grant date by using the Black Scholes option
pricing model with the following weighted-average assumptions
used for grants in 2001, 2002 and 2003, respectively: dividend
yields of 3.47%, 2.01% and 2.21%; an expected volatility of 25.5%,
35.08% and 36.92%; risk-free rates of 4.90%, 4.84% and 2.93%;
and an expected life of five years for all years.

Under the accounting provisions of SFAS No. 123, the Company’s
net income and earnings per share would have been as indicated
below for the years ended November 30:

(In thousands, except per share data) 2003 2002 2001

Reported net income $29,900 $ 28,059 $ 27,741

Add: Stock-based employee
compensation expense 
included in reported net income,
net of tax 461 847 1,066

Deduct: Stock-based employee
compensation expense determined
under SFAS No.123, net of tax (832) (925) (1,287)

Pro forma net income $29,529 $ 27,981 $ 27,520

Earning per share (basic)

As reported $ 3.77 $ 3.61 $ 3.58
Pro forma 3.73 3.60 3.55

Earning per share (diluted)

As reported 3.67 3.49 3.45
Pro forma 3.62 3.47 3.42

NOTE 12

NOTE 11
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A summary of the Company’s stock options as of November 30,
2001, 2002 and 2003, and changes during the years then ended,
follows:

Number of Weighted - Average
Options Exerc ise Price

Outstanding at November 30, 2000 1,007,818 $ 20.95
Granted 205,000 20.55
Exercised (7,300) 17.75
Forfeited (11,000) 25.14

Outstanding at November 30, 2001 1,194,518 20.86

Options exercisable at November 30, 2001 770,018 20.98

Weighted-average fair value of options granted during 2001 4.35

Outstanding at November 30, 2001 1,194,518 20.86
Granted 21,000 35.28
Exercised (65,310) 18.80

Outstanding at November 30, 2002 1,150,208 21.24

Options exercisable at November 30, 2002 863,708 21.29

Weighted-average fair value of options granted during 2002 11.31

Outstanding at November 30, 2002 1,150,208 21.24
Granted 24,000 27.95
Exercised (323,239) 19.41
Forfeited (12,850) 20.54

Outstanding at November 30, 2003 838,119 22.15

Options exercisable at
November 30, 2003 665,119 22.02

Weighted-average fair value of options granted during 2003 8.31

The following summarizes information about stock options
outstanding as of November 30, 2003:

Weighted Average
Remaining Weighted

Range of Options Contractual Life Average
Exercise Prices Outstanding (in years) Exercise Price
$15.00 to $25.00 652,119 8.14 $20.13

25.00 to 35.00 165,000 9.24 28.43
35.00 to 45.00 21,000 8.30 35.28

15.00 to 45.00 838,119 8.37 22.15

Weighted
Range of Options Average
Exercise Prices Exercisable Exercise Price
$15.00 to $25.00 518,869 $20.12 

25.00 to 35.00 141,000 28.51 
35.00 to 45.00 5,250 35.28 

15.00 to 45.00 665,119 22.02

GOODWILL AND OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS

In July 2001, the FASB issued SFAS No. 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets.” SFAS No. 142 requires that goodwill and intangible assets
with indefinite useful lives no longer be amortized but instead tested for impairment at least annually. SFAS No. 142 also requires that intangible
assets with definite useful lives be amortized over their respective estimated useful lives to their estimated residual values. The Company adopted
SFAS No. 142 effective December 1, 2002.

During 2003, the Company completed the required transitional goodwill and intang ible ass et impairment test s. No impairment loss es
were identif ied as a result of these test s. The changes in the carrying amount of goodwill by business segment were as follows :

Foreign Currency
Translation

(In thous ands) November 30, 2 0 0 2 Adjustment s November 30, 2 0 0 3
Business Segment :

Perform ance Coatings & Finishes $ 1 0 , 7 0 1 $ 7 7 2 $ 1 1 , 4 7 3
Fiberglass - Composite Pipe 1 , 4 4 0 — 1 , 4 4 0
Water Transmission — — —
Infrastructure Product s 2 0 1 — 2 0 1

Total $ 1 2 , 3 4 2 $ 7 7 2 $ 1 3 , 1 1 4

The Company’s intangible assets and related accumulated amortization consisted of the following at November 30:

2 0 0 3 2 0 0 2
Gross Intangible Accumulated Gross Intangible Accumulated

(In thous ands) Ass et s Amorti z ation Ass et s Amorti z ation

Tradem ark s $ 2 , 0 7 6 $ ( 1 , 9 7 5 ) $ 1 , 9 6 1 $ ( 1 , 8 0 4 )
Non - Compete Agreement s 2 , 1 0 5 ( 1 , 7 9 4 ) 2 , 1 0 5 ( 1 , 5 9 1 )
Patent s 2 1 2 ( 2 1 2 ) 2 1 2 ( 2 1 2 )
Leas ehold Interest s 1 , 9 3 0 ( 1 , 9 3 0 ) 1 , 9 3 0 ( 1 , 9 3 0 )
Total $ 6 , 3 2 3 $ ( 5 , 9 1 1 ) $ 6 , 2 0 8 $ ( 5 , 5 3 7 )

Amortization expense related to intangible assets for the fiscal years ended November 30, 2003, 2002, and 2001 were $278,000, $540,000, and
$813,000, respectively. At November 30, 2003, estimated future amortization expense for each of the years in the four-year period ending
November 30, 2007 was as follows: $209,000 for 2004, $169,000 for 2005, $29,000 for 2006, and $5,000 for 2007.

NOTE 13
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The following is a summary of net income and earnings per share
for the years ended November 30, 2003, 2002 and 2001, as adjusted
to remove the amortization of goodwill.

(In thousands, except per share data) 2003 2002 2001

Reported net income $29,900 $ 28,059 $ 27,741

Add: Goodwill amortization,
net of tax — 168 242

Pro forma net income $29,900 $ 28,227 $ 27,983

Basic net income per share
As reported $ 3.77 $ 3.61 $ 3.58
Pro forma 3.77 3.63 3.61

Diluted net income per share
As reported 3.67 3.49 3.45
Pro forma 3.67 3.51 3.48

COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

The Company is one of numerous defendants in vario us asbestos-
related personal injury lawsuits. These cases generally seek unspecified
damages for asbestos-related diseases based on al leged exposure to
products previously manufactured by the Company and others, and at
this time the Company is generally not aware of the extent of injuries
allegedly suffered by the individuals or the facts supporting the claim
that injuries were caused by the Company’s products. Based upon the
information available to it at this time, the Company is not in a position
to evaluate its potential exposure, if any, as a result of such claims.
Hence, no amounts have been accrued for loss contingencies related to
these lawsuits in accord ance with SFAS No. 5 , “Accounting for
Contingencies.” The Company continues to vigorously defend all such
lawsuits. As of November 30, 2003, the Company was a defendant in
asbestos-related cases involving 17,447 claimants, compared to 8,382
claimants as of November 30, 2002. The Company is not in a position to
estimate the number of additional claims that may be filed against it in
the future. For the fiscal year ended November 30, 2003, there were new
claims involving 9,279 claim ant s, dismiss als and / or set tlement s
involving 211 claimants and judgments involving 3 claimants. Net costs
and expenses incurr ed by the Company for the fiscal year end ed
November 30, 2003 in connection with asbestos-related claims were less
than $600,000.

The Company is one of numerous defendants in various silica-related
personal in jury lawsuit s. These cas es generally seek unspec if ied
damages for silica-related diseases ba sed on alleg ed exposure to
products previously manufactured by the Company and others, and at
this time the Company is not aware of the extent of injuries allegedly
suffered by the indi viduals or the fa cts supporting the claim that
injuries were caused by the Company’s products. Based upon the
information available to it at this t ime, the Co mpany is not in a
position to evaluate its potential exposure, if any, as a result of such
claims. Hence, no amounts have been accrued for loss contingencies
related to these lawsuits in accordance with SFAS No. 5. The Company
continues to vigorously defend all such lawsuits. As of November 30,
2003, the Company was a defendant in silica-related cases involving
6,847 claimants, compared to 48 claimants as of November 30, 2002.
The Company is not in a position to estimate the number of additional
claims that may be filed against it in the future. For the fiscal year
ended November 30, 2003, there were new claims involving 6,880
claimants, dismissals and/or settlements involving 81 claimants and
no judgments. Net costs and expenses incurred by the Company for
the fiscal year ended November 30, 2003 in connection with silica-
related claims were about $300,000.

In addition, certain other claims, suits and complaints that arise in the
ordinary course of business, have been filed or are pending against the
Company. Management believes that these matters are either adequately
reserved, covered by insurance, or would not have a material effect on
the Company’s financial position or its results of operations if disposed
of unfavorably.

The Company is subject to federal, state and local laws and regulations
concerning the environment and is currently partic ipating in
administrative proceedings at several sites under these laws. While the
Company finds it difficult to estimate with any certainty the total cost of
remediation at the several si tes, on the basis of currently available
information and reserves provided, the Company believ es th at th e
outcome of such environmental regulatory proceedings will not have a
material effect on the Company’s financial position o r its results of
operations.

EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLANS

The Company has a qualified, defined b enefit, noncontributory
pension plan for certain U.S. employees not covered by uni on
pension plans. The Company’s subsidi ary in the Netherlands
provides defined retirement benefits to its employees. The Company
has a supplemental non - qu alif ied, non - funded retirement plan
(“SERP”) for certain U.S. executives. The Company also provides
health and life insurance to a limited number of eligible retirees and
eligible survivors of retirees.

Benefits paid to participants are based upon age, years of credited
service and average compensation or negotiated benefit rates. For
purpos es of the qu alif ied pension plan , compens ation is bas e
monthly salary, exclusive of overtime, s everance, bonus es,
commissions or deferral amounts. The U.S. Internal Revenue Code
limits the amount per year on which benefits are based and the
aggregate amount of the annual pension which may be paid by an
employer from a plan which is qualified under the Internal Revenue
Code for U.S. federal income tax  purposes. The SERP provides for
supplemental payments to be made to certain eligible executives in
amounts sufficient to maintain total benefits upon retirement had
there been no such Internal Revenue Code limitations, and, among
other features, expands annual compensation to include bonuses
and deferred compensation, calculated based upon the highest five
of the last ten years of earnings prior to retirement. Such
supplemental payments are typically made in the form of straight-
life annuities paid over the life of retired executives, however, future
payments can be accelerated at any time, including in-service lump-
sum payments, subject to certain reductions.

Assets of the Company’s U.S. defined benefit plan are invested in a
directed trust. Assets in the trust are invested in domestic and foreign
equity securities of corporations (including $3,686,000 of the
Company’s common stock at November 30, 2003), U.S. government
obligations, derivative securities, corporate bonds and money market
funds. The Dutch subsidiary contracts with a thir d-party insurance
company to pay benefits to retirees.

NOTE 15NOTE 14
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U. S . Postretirement
(In thous ands) U. S . Pension Benef it s Health Care

2 0 0 3 2 0 0 2 2 0 0 3 2 0 0 2
Change in Benefit Obligation

Projected benef it obligation -
beginning of year $ 1 5 8 , 7 0 8 $1 4 6 , 1 7 4 $ 2 , 9 0 3 $ 2 , 7 6 5

Service cost 2 , 8 5 1 2 , 5 0 6 1 0 5 9 8
Interest cost 1 0 , 6 4 8 1 0 , 3 5 3 1 9 1 1 9 2
Benef it adjustment s 2 , 1 9 1 3 9 3 — —
Foreign currency translation adjustment — — — —
Actu ari al loss (gain ) 1 6 , 9 8 8 9 , 1 2 7 5 0 1 ( 5 )
Partic ipant contributions — — — —
Benef it payment s ( 1 0 , 1 0 6 ) ( 9 , 8 4 5 ) ( 2 2 0 ) ( 1 4 7 )
Projected benef it obligation -

end of year $ 1 8 1 , 2 8 0 $1 5 8 , 7 0 8 $ 3 , 4 8 0 $ 2 , 9 0 3
Change in Plan Ass et s
Plan ass ets at fair value -

beginning of year $ 1 1 3 , 7 3 8 $1 3 5 , 1 7 1 $ 3 5 4 $ 3 3 8
Actu al return on plan ass et s 1 9 , 2 8 7 ( 1 1 , 8 3 4 ) 1 3 1 9
Employer contributions 2 4 8 2 4 6 2 0 1 1 4 4
Partic ipant contributions — — — —
Foreign currency translation adjustment — — — —
Benef it payment s ( 1 0 , 1 0 6 ) ( 9 , 8 4 5 ) ( 2 2 0 ) ( 1 4 7 )
Plan ass ets at fair value -

end of year $ 1 2 3 , 1 6 7 $1 1 3 , 7 3 8 $ 3 4 8 $ 3 5 4
Funded Status
Funded Status $ ( 5 8 , 1 1 3 ) $ ( 4 4 , 9 7 0 ) $ ( 3 , 1 3 2 ) $ ( 2 , 5 4 9 )
Unrecogni zed actu ari al loss 5 2 , 9 2 3 5 1 , 0 8 1 8 6 8 3 7 4
Unrecogni zed transition 

obligation — — 7 0 0 7 8 5
Unrecogni zed prior service cost 2 , 8 0 5 1 , 5 4 0 ( 1 2 0 ) ( 1 3 4 )
Net amount recogni zed $ ( 2 , 3 8 5 ) $ 7 , 6 5 1 $ ( 1 , 6 8 4 ) $ ( 1 , 5 2 4 )
Balance Sheet Amount s
Prepaid cost $ — $ — $ 4 9 $ 3 5
Acc rued cost ( 5 0 , 3 8 7 ) ( 3 4 , 8 5 5 ) ( 1 , 7 3 3 ) ( 1 , 5 5 9 )
Intangible ass et 2 , 8 0 5 1 , 2 4 2 — —
Accumulated other comprehensive

loss, preta x 4 5 , 1 9 7 4 1 , 2 6 4 — —
Net amount recogni zed $ ( 2 , 3 8 5 ) $ 7 , 6 5 1 $ ( 1 , 6 8 4 ) $ ( 1 , 5 2 4 )

The projected benef it obligation , accumulated benef it obligation , and fair value of plan ass ets for the pension plans with accumulated
benef it obligations in excess of plan ass ets were $181,280,000, $ 1 7 3 , 5 5 4 , 0 0 0 , and $123,167,000, respectively, as of November 30, 2 0 0 3 ,
and $158,708,000, $ 1 4 8 , 5 9 3 , 0 0 0 , and $113,738,000, respectively, as of November 30, 2 0 0 2 .

The Company’s policy is to make pension plan contributions to the ex tent such contributions are mand atory, actu ari ally determined
and tax deductible. The Company ex pects to contribute $3,547,000 to the U. S . pension plans in 2004.
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The following sets forth the change in benefit obligations, change in plan assets, funded status and amounts recognized in the balance sheet as
of November 30, 2003 and 2002 for the Company’s U.S. defined benefit retirement plans and postretirement health care and life in surance
benefits:
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Net periodic benef it costs for the Company’s def ined benef it retirement plans and postretirement health care and life insurance
benef its for 2003, 2002 and 2001 included the following component s :

(In thousands) U.S. Pension Benefits U.S. Postretirement Health Care

2003 2002 2001 2003 2002 2001

Service cost $ 2,851 $ 2,506 $ 2,289 $ 105 $ 98 $ 93
Interest cost 10,648 10,353 10,168 191 192 184
Expected return on plan assets (9,521) (12,711) (15,343) (33) (33) —
Amortization of unrecognized

prior service cost 925 520 382 (14) (14) —
Amortization of unrecognized

net transition (asset) obligation — (35) (115) 71 71 71
Amortization of accumulated

loss (gain) 5,379 671 (971) 21 25 15
Net periodic cost (benefit) $ 10,282 $ 1,304 $ (3,590) $ 341 $ 339 $ 363

The following table provides the weighted-average assumptions used to compute the actuarial present value of projected benefit obligations:

U.S. Pension Benefits U.S. Postretirement Health Care

2003 2002 2001 2003 2002 2001

Weighted-average discount rate 6.00% 6.75% 7.25% 6.00% 6.75% 7.25%
Expected long-term rate of return on plan assets 8.75% 9.75% 9.75% N/A N/A N/A
Rate of increase in compensation levels 3.50% 4.25% 4.75% 3.50% 4.25% 4.75%

The assumed health care cost trend was increased from 9% to 10% in 2003; it is assumed that the rate will decline gradually to 5% by
2008 and beyond. The effect of a one-percentage-point change in the assumed health care cost trend would have altered the amounts of
the benefit obligation and the sum of the service cost and interest cost components of postretirement benefit expense for 2003, as
follows:

(In thousands) Increase Decrease

Effect on total of service and interest cost components of net periodic expense $ 16 $ (18)

Effect on postretirement benefit obligation 111 (96)

For the Dutch pension plan, the projected benefit obligation and plan assets at November 30, 2003 were $32,239,000 and $23,433,000,
respectively.A net accrued pension liability of $651,000 was recorded as of November 30, 2003. The projected benefit obligation and plan
assets at November 30, 2002 were $24,428,000 and $18,123,000, respectively.

Approximately 19% of the Company’s employees are covered by union-sponsored, collectively-bargained, multi-employer pension
plans. Related to these plans, the Company contributed and charged to expense $2,340,000, $2,242,000 and $4,009,000 in 2003, 2002
and 2001, respectively. These contributions are determined in accordance with the provisions of negotiated labor contracts and
generally are based on the number of hours worked. The Company has no intention of withdrawing from any of these plans, nor is there
any intention to terminate such plans.

The Company has a deferred compensation plan providing eli gible executives with the opportunity to part icipate in an unfunde d, deferred
compensation program. Under the program, participants may defer base compensation and bonuses and earn interest on their deferred amounts.
The program is not qualified under Section 401 of the U.S. Internal Revenue Code. The total of participant deferrals and earnings thereon was
$2,025,000 at November 30, 2003 and $2,331,000 at November 30, 2002. The participant deferrals earn interest at a rate based on the rate on U.S.
government obligations. The interest expense related to this plan was $133,000 in 2003, $302,000 in 2002 and $667,000 in 2001.
The Company has a life insurance plan which provides eligible executives with life insurance protection equal to three times base salary. Upon
retirement, the executive is provided with life insurance protection equal to final base salary. Benefits may be paid as a lump sum or as an annual
income to the identified survivor over ten years. The expense related to this plan was $264,000 in 2003, $148,000 in 2002 and $230,000 in 2001.

In connection with the SERP and the above two plans, whole life insurance policies are purchased on the related participants. At November
30, 2003, the cash surrender value of these policies was $29,312,000; and at November 30, 2002 the cash surrender value of these policies
was $26,415,000, net of loans of $1,000,000. The Company is the sole owner of such policies.

The Company has severance agreements with certain key employees that could provide benefits upon termination of up to 3.5 times total
annual compensation of such employees.

The Company provides to certain employees a savings plan under Section 401(k) of the U.S. Internal Revenue Code. The savings plan allows
for deferral of income up to a cer tain pe rcentage through contributions to the plan, within cer tain restrictions. Company matching
contributions are in the form of cash. In 2003, 2002 and 2001, the Company recorded expense for matching contributions of $880,000,
$602,000 and $883,000, respectively.
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CAPITAL STOCK

The Company is incorporated in De laware. The articles of
incorporation authorize 12,000,000 shares of $2.50 par value
common stock, 1,000,000 shares of $1.00 par value preferred
stock and 100,000 shares of $1.00 par value series A junior
participating cumulative preferred stock. The preferred stock
may be issued in series, with the rights and preferences of each
s eries to be established by the Board of Directors. As of
November 30, 2003, no shares of preferred stock or series A
junior partic ipating cumulative preferred stock were
outstanding.

On March 26, 2003 the Company’s Board of Directors declared
a two-for-one stock split in the form of a stock dividend of one
additional common share for every outstanding common share
held by stockholders of record on May 1, 2003, payable May 27,
2003. The weighted-average number of shares and per sh are
information presented herein reflect the Company’s shares and
earnings and dividends per share on a post-split basis.

As of November 30, 2003, 8,214,563 shares of common stock were
issued and outstanding, including 60,000 restricted shares which
were granted on January 23, 2002. Restrictions limit the sale and
transfer on these shares. On each anniversary of the grant date,
20,000 of the shares become unrestricted.

The Company has a Stockholders’ Rights Plan, which,among other
things, entitles st ockholders to p urchase co mmon stoc k at a
significant d iscount if a party acquires 15% or mo re of the
Company’s common stock or announces a tender offer for at least
15% of the Company’s common stock outstanding.

QUARTERLY FINANCIAL DATA (UNAUDITED)

Summ ari zed qu arterly financ i al data for the years ended
November 30, 2003 and 2002, follow:

(In thousands, First Second Third Fourth
except per share data) Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter
2003
Sales $ 130,621 $ 147,844 $ 155,174 $ 167,856
Gross profit 32,665 40,317 42,444 51,062
Net income 2,175 7,825 7,711 12,189
Diluted net income per share .27 .97 .94 1.47
Stock price per share-high 3 0 . 9 9 3 5 . 5 3 3 5 . 3 5 3 4 . 9 3
Stock price per share-low 2 4 . 8 9 25.05 30.00 28.49
Dividends per share .16 .20 .20 .20

2002
Sales $ 120,702 $ 138,099 $ 138,813 $ 141,859
Gross profit 30,439 35,564 36,553 39,327
Net income 1,771 7,562 8,711 10,015
Diluted net income per share .21 .91 1.06 1.27
Stock price per share-high 3 5 . 7 9 38.74 3 6 . 4 5 2 8 . 5 1
Stock price per share-low 31.30 33.53 24.63 22.26
Dividends per share .16 .16 .16 .16

The Company traditionally e xperiences lower sales during the
first fiscal quarter because of seasonal patterns associated with
weather and contractor schedules.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Company adopted SFAS No. 131,“Disclosure about Segments
of an Enterprise and Related Information.” SFAS No. 131 requires
dis closure of certain inform ation about operating segment s,
geographic areas in which the Company operates, m ajor
customers, and products and ser vices. In accordance with SFAS
No. 131, the Company has determined it has four op erating
s egment s. The Perform ance Coatings & Finishes Group
m anufactures and markets high - perform ance industri al and
m arine coatings. The Fiberglass - Composite Pipe Group
m anufactures and markets filament - wound and molded
composite fiberglass pipe, tubing, fittings and well screens. The
Water Transmission Group manufactures and supplies concrete
and steel pressure pipe, concrete non-pressure pipe, protective
linings for pipe, and fabricated product s. The Infrastructure
Products Group manufactures and sells ready-mix concrete, sand
and aggregates, concrete pipe and culverts, and concrete and steel
lighting and traffic poles. Each of these segments has a dedicated
management team and is managed separately, primarily because
of differences in products.

The markets served by the Performance Coatings & Fi nishes
Group and the Fiberglass-Composite Pipe Group are worldwide in
s cope. The Water Transmission Group serves prim arily the
western United States.The Infrastructure Products Group’s quarry
and ready-mix business operates exclusively in Hawaii, and poles
are sold throughout the U.S. Sales for export or to any individual
customer did not exceed 10% of consolidated sales in 2003, 2002,
or 2001.

In accordance with SFAS No. 131, the following table presents
information related to each operating segment included in, and in
a manne r consistent with, internal managemen t reports. The
Company allocates cer tain selling , general and admini strative
expenses to operating segments utilizing assumptions believed to
be appropriate in the circumstances.

Inter-segment sales were not significant. Income from reportable
segments is exclusive of certain unallocated income and expenses,
interest expense and i ncome taxes. Total assets by segment are
those ass ets that are us ed exclusively by such segment.
Unallocated assets are principally cash, corporate property and
equipment, and investments. Long-lived assets consist of all long-
term assets, excluding investments and deferred tax assets.

NOTE 18

NOTE 17

NOTE 16
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Segment Inform ation

Perform ance Fiberglass - Water Infrastructure
(In thousands ) Coatings & Finishes Composite Pipe Transmission Product s Other Eliminations Total

2003
Sales $190,280 $114,613 $165,497 $130,493 $ — $ (388) $ 600,495
Income before interest

and income taxes 9,383 21,881 26,634 15,509 (22,792) — 50,615
Equity in earnings of joint venture — — — — 667 — 667
Income from joint ventures-cost method 636 3,042 2,633 — — — 6,311
Investments in joint ventures

Equity method — — — — 13,064 — 13,064
Cost method 1,695 3,784 — — — — 5,479

Long-lived assets 54,921 26,141 39,470 40,323 51,837 — 212,692
Total assets 164,399 147,326 125,501 70,202 184,839 (158,775) 533,492
Capital expenditures 5,901 2,542 2,656 5,041 967 — 17,107
Depreciation and amortization 5,206 3,940 4,124 4,382 719 — 18,371

2002
Sales $ 183,311 $ 88,393 $ 145,024 $ 123,610 $ — $ (865) $ 539,473
Income before interest

and income taxes 9,122 10,862 27,347 17,019 (15,001) — 49,349
Equity in earnings of joint venture — — — — 3,597 — 3,597
Income from joint ventures-cost method 327 2,263 3,310 — — — 5,900
Investments in joint ventures

Equity method — — — — 12,940 — 12,940
Cost method 2,203 3,784 — — — — 5,987

Long-lived assets 49,314 28,338 40,966 39,694 32,841 — 191,153
Total assets 138,616 138,712 115,078 68,272 140,233 (137,969) 462,942
Capital expenditures 3,697 1,642 4,331 3,696 1,148 — 14,514
Depreciation and amortization 5,224 4,002 4,160 4,367 819 — 18,572

2001
Sales $ 188,759 $ 106,872 $ 143,226 $ 113,824 $ — $ (1,285) $ 551,396
Income before interest

and income taxes 9,831 12,125 29,011 13,089 (15,252) — 48,804
Equity in earnings of joint venture — — — — 2,279 — 2,279
Income from joint ventures-cost method 855 2,070 3,325 — — — 6,250
Investments in joint ventures

Equity method — — — — 12,793 — 12,793
Cost method 2,203 3,784 — — — — 5,987

Long-lived assets 45,240 28,140 41,146 40,474 45,592 — 200,592
Total assets 133,332 133,267 123,175 65,518 168,697 (138,909) 485,080
Capital expenditures 3,037 5,013 2,047 8,596 604 — 19,297
Depreciation and amortization 5,448 3,774 4,210 4,298 903 — 18,633

Geographic Areas

United
(In thousands ) States Europe Asi a Other Eliminations Total

2003
Sales to external customers $ 422,091 $ 92,104 $ 51,228 $ 35,072 $ — $ 600,495
Long-lived assets 156,676 31,001 10,692 14,323 — 212,692
Total assets 464,548 106,637 80,826 40,256 (158,775) 533,492

2002
Sales to external customers $ 396,668 $ 77,429 $ 34,309 $ 31,067 $ — $ 539,473
Long-lived assets 136,712 31,690 10,715 12,036 — 191,153
Total assets 415,709 88,547 69,358 27,297 (137,969) 462,942

2001
Sales to external customers $ 413,112 $ 80,277 $ 28,451 $ 29,556 $ — $ 551,396
Long-lived assets 151,290 26,617 10,986 11,699 — 200,592
Total assets 456,171 81,148 59,196 27,474 (138,909) 485,080
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To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of Ameron International Corporation :

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated balance sheet and the related consolidated statements of income, of stockholders’ equity, of
comprehensive income, and of cash flows present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Ameron International Corporation
and its subsidiaries at November 30, 2003, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for the year then ended in conformity with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s
management; our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit of these
statements in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America, which require that we plan and
perform the audit to obtain reaso nable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit
includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements, assessing the accounting
principles used and significant estimates made by management, and evaluating the overall financial statement presentation.We believe that
our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion. The financial statements of the Company as of November 30, 2002 and for the years
ended November 30, 2002 and 2001 were audited by other auditors whose report dated February 3, 2003 expressed an unqualified opinion
on those statements.

As discussed in Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company changed its method of accounting for goodwill effective
December 1, 2002.

Los Angeles, California
February 4, 2004 

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT AUDITORS

MANAGEMENT’S LETTER

We have prepared the accompanying consolidated financial statements and related financial information of Ameron International
Corporation and s ubsidiaries in conformity with accounting principles g enerally accepted in the United Sta tes of America.

Management is responsible for the integrity of the financial info rmation included in th is Annual Report. In preparing the financial
statements, management makes estimates as necessary based upon currently available information and judgments of current conditions
and circumstances.

Ameron maintains a system of internal controls supported by documentation to provide reasonable assurance that assets are safeguarded
and the accounting records reflect the authorized transactions of the Company. We believe the Company’s system provides this appropriate
balance in accordance with established policies and procedures as implemented by qualified personnel.

The independent auditors, PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, appointed by the Board of Directors, are responsible for expressing their opinion
as to whether the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position, operating results and cash
flows of the Company. In this process, they consider the system of internal control, in order to determine their auditing procedures for the
purpose of expressing an opinion on the financial statements. Their opinion appears on this page.

The Audit Committee of the Board of Directors is composed of four directors who are not officers or employees of the Company. They meet
periodically with management, PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP and the internal auditors to review the audit scope and results, discuss internal
controls and financial reporting subjects, and review management actions on these matters. PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP and the internal
auditors have full and free access to the members of the Audit Committee.

James S. Marlen Gary Wagner
Chairman of the Board, President & Chief Executive Officer Senior Vice President, Chief Financial Officer
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Retired Chairman of the Board,
President & Chief Executive Officer,
Furon Company, manufacturer of
polymer components.

John F. King 1 , 4

President & Chief Executive Officer,
Weingart Center Association,
social service rehabilitation center;
formerly Chairman of the Board &
Chief Executive Officer,
World Trade Bank.

Terry L. Haines 1 , 4

President & Chief Executive Officer
and Director, A. Schulman, Inc.,
manufacturer of high-performance
plastic compounds and resins.

Thomas L. Lee 1

Retired Chairman of the Board and
Chief Executive Officer, The Newhall
Land and Farming Company.

John E. Peppercorn 3 , 4 , 5

Retired Vice President,
Chevron Corporation
and President, Chevron Chemical
Company LLC, manufacturer of
industrial chemicals.

Dennis C. Poulsen 2 , 4

Chairman of the Board,
Rose Hills Company.

1 Audit Commit tee
2 Finance Commit tee

5 Executive Commit tee3 Compens ation & Stock Option Commit tee
4 Nominating & Corporate Governance

Commit tee

50

13566_Financialsqx5  2/25/04  3:54 PM  Page 50



51

AMERON INTERNATIONAL
CORPORATION
245 South Los Robles Avenue
Pasadena, California 91101-3638
Tel: 626-683-4000
Fax: 626-683-4060

WATER TRANSMISSION
GROUP
10681 Foothill Boulevard, Suite 450
Rancho Cucamonga, California 91730
Tel: 909-944-4100
Fax: 909-944-4112

INFRASTRUCTURE PRODUCTS
GROUP
Ameron Hawaii
2344 Pahounui Drive
Honolulu, Hawaii 96819
Tel: 808-832-9200
Fax: 808-882-9450

Pole Products
5851 Thille Street, Suite 101
Ventura, California 93003
Tel: 805-676-3282
Fax: 805-676-3288

FIBERGLASS-COMPOSITE PIPE
GROUP
5301 Hollister Road, Suite 200
Houston, Texas 77040
Tel: 713-690-7777
Fax: 713-690-2842

PERFORMANCE COATINGS &
FINISHES GROUP
13010 Morris Road, Suite 400
Alpharetta, Georgia 30004
Tel: 800-926-3766

678-653-0653
Fax: 678-566-2699

CORPORATE RESEARCH &
ENGINEERING
4671 Firestone Boulevard
South Gate, California 90280
Tel: 323-357-6760
Fax: 323-357-6850

HEADQUARTERS

WATER TRANSMISSION
GROUP
Thomas P. Giese, Group President
Rancho Cucamonga, California

William M. Smith, Vice President-
Manufacturing

INFRASTRUCTURE PRODUCTS
GROUP
Wade Wakayama, President
Ameron Hawaii
Honolulu, Hawaii

George N. West, Jr., Vice President-
Operations

John Szabo, President
Pole Products
Ventura, California

Wayne Liechti, Operations
Director-Steel

Wesley Olison, Operations
Director-Concrete

FIBERGLASS-COMPOSITE PIPE
GROUP
Conway Beasley, Group President
Houston, Texas

Mark Nowak, President
Fiberglass-Composite Pipe -
Americas
Houston, Texas

David B. Jones, Vice President-
Operations

Edwin van Steenis,
Administrator
Fiberglass - Composite Pipe -
Europe
Gelderm als en , the Netherlands

Allen Chiu, Managing Director
Ameron (Pte) Ltd.
Singapore

PERFORMANCE COATINGS 
& FINISHES GROUP
Stephen F. Dickey, President
U.S. Performance Coatings
Alpharetta, Georgia

Christine Stanley, Vice President-
Worldwide Technology

Richard Von Hor, Vice President-
Operations

Marten O. van der Meer,
General Manager
Ameron Coatings-Europe
Geldermalsen, the Netherlands

Alan Perry, Managing Director
Ameron Coatings-Australia
Sydney, Australia 

Lou Gommans, Managing Director
Ameron Coatings-New Zealand
Auckland, New Zealand

CORPORATE RESEARCH &
DEVELOPMENT
Rocky Friedrich, Vice President-
Research & Engineering
South Gate, California

Dr. Colin Hull, Vice President-
Technology & Business Development
Pasadena, California

OPERATIONS’ EXECUTIVES

AMERON SAUDI ARABIA, LTD.

SAUDI ARABIA CONCRETE
PRODUCTS, LTD.
Concrete Pipe Products

H . H . Prince Ahm ad Bin Khalid Bin
Abdullah Bin Abdul Rahm an Al - Saud,
Chairm an

Fareed Y. Khalawi , President
Damm am , Saudi Arabi a

Ameron Egypt
El Korba , Egypt

BONDSTRAND, LTD.
Fiberglass Pipe Products

H . H . Prince Ahm ad Bin Khalid Bin
Abdullah Bin Abdul Rahm an Al - Saud,
Chairm an

Fareed Y. Khalawi , President
Damm am , Saudi Arabi a

Bondstrand Kuwait, Ltd.
Kuwait City, Kuwait

OASIS-AMERON, LTD.
Coatings Products

Om ar Bin Abdul Aziz Bin
Abdul Aziz Al - Maddey,
Chairm an

George Saadeh,
General Manager
Al - Khobar, Saudi Arabi a

TAMCO
Steel Products

James S. Marlen, Chairman
Masanari Iketani, Executive
Committee
Junsaku Kitamura, Executive
Committee
Jack D. Stutz, President
Rancho Cucamonga, California

JOINT VENTURES
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PRINCIPAL LOCATIONS

SHAREHOLDERS’ INFORMATION

Water Transmission
Group
Brea, California
Etiwanda, California
Fontana, California
Lakeside, California
Phoenix, Arizona
Rancho Cucamonga, California
South Gate, California
Tracy, California
Bogota, Colombia
Dammam, Saudi Arabia
El Korba, Egypt

Infrastructure Products
Group
Anniston, Alabama
Barbers Point, Hawaii
Everett, Washington
Fillmore, California
Honolulu, Hawaii
Maui, Hawaii
Oakland, California
Tulsa, Oklahoma
Ventura, California

Fiberglass-Composite
Pipe Group
Burkburnett, Texas
Houston, Texas
Mineral Wells, Texas
Abu Dhabi , United Arab 

Emirates
Ashford, Kent, United Kingdom
Dammam, Saudi Arabia
Geldermalsen, the Netherlands
Johor, Malaysia
Kuwait City, Kuwait
Singapore

Performance Coatings
& Finishes Group
Alpharetta, Georgia
Brea, California
Little Rock, Arkansas
Adelaide,Australia
Al-Khobar, Saudi Arabia
Auckland, New Zealand
Geldermalsen, the Netherlands
Hull, United Kingdom
Huthwaite, United Kingdom
Sydney, Australia
Yokohama, Japan

CORPORATE OFFICE
Ameron International Corporation
245 South Los Robles Avenue
Pasadena, California 91101-3638
Tel: 626-683-4000
Fax: 626-683-4060
Ameron Website: http://www.ameron.com

STOCK EXCHANGE INFORMATION

Ameron International Corporation stock is traded on the
New York Stock Exchange under the stock symbol AMN.

Independent Auditors
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
350 South Grand Avenue
Los Angeles, California 90071

TRANSFER AGENT & REGISTRAR*
Equiserve Trust Company, N.A.
P.O. Box 43069
Providence, R.I. 02940-3069
Tel: 816-843-4299
Hearing-impaired number: TDD: 1-800-952-9245
Website: http://www.equiserve.com

*Notices of change of address and inqu iries regarding dividend payment and
transfer or registration of stock should be sent directly to the Transfer Agent.

Form 10-k
A copy of Ameron’s Annu al Report to the Securities and Exchange
Commission (“SEC”) on Form 10-K will be available w ithout char ge to
shareholders after March 15, 2004, upon written request to th e Corporate
Secretary at the Corporate Office address shown at the left. The Form 10-K is
also available through the Ameron website.

Filings with the SEC are also available at the SEC’s Public Reference Room at
450 Fifth Street, NW, Washington DC 20549 by contacting SEC at 1-800-SEC-
0330 or visiting the web site at http://www.sec.gov.

Annual Meeting
The Annu al Meeting of Shareholders will be held at the Pas adena 
Hilton Hotel at 9 a.m., March 24, 2004. The Boar d of Directors has
fixed February 10, 2004, as the record date for shareholders entitled to
vote at the Annual Meeting.

James S. Marlen
Chairman of the Board,
President & Chief Executive
Officer

Thomas P. Giese
Vice President & Group President -
Water Transmission Group

Javier Solis
Senior Vice President of
Administration, Secretary & 
General Counsel

Terrence P. O’Shea
Vice President - Human Resources

Gary Wagner
Senior Vice President,
Chief Financial Officer

Rocky Friedrich
Vice President - Research &
Engineering

James R. McLaughlin
Vice President-Treasurer &
Controller

CORPORATE OFFICERS
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